














The financial reporting of pensions

Market-based or entity-specific measures

3.4 If measurements based on historical information are discarded from further consideration, the

principal candidates for current value measures are ‘market-based” and ‘entity-specific’ measures.

Market-based measures

3.5 By market-based we mean that assets would be reported at market values at the balance sheet date,
where market prices are available. Where market prices are not available (because, for example, the asset
is not traded in an active market), a price at which the asset could be exchanged at the balance sheet date

would be estimated using valuation techniques.

3.6 The definition of fair value in the FASB Statement 157 ‘Fair Value Measurements’ (issued by the

IASB as a discussion paper in November 2006) is a market-based measurement:

“Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the balance sheet date.”

The IASB draws to attention the explicit reference in the proposed definition to market participants — the
implication being that a fair value measurement should be based on the assumptions that market
participants (rather than the entity) would use in pricing an asset, regardless of the entity’s intention or

ability to sell the asset at the measurement date.

3.7 SFAS 157 establishes a three-level hierarchy that prioritises the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value. It gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets' for identical
assets or liabilities (Level 1) —i.e. a quoted price should usually be used to measure fair value whenever
available. The next priority is given to inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly (Level 2). The lowest priority is given to unobservable inputs (Level
3), which might be used in situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for an asset or its

inputs.

Entity-specific measures

3.8 The philosophy behind an entity-specific value is that the value of many assets depends not only
on the properties of the asset itself, but also on its relationship to its owner. Assets are more or less
specialised, many contributing to the total cash flows of a business. Differences in the economic
constraints and opportunities available to different entities are reflected in different perceptions of assets’
values to their owners. For example, a particular entity may be able to exploit an asset in its business in a

way that others cannot and so the asset may be worth more to the entity than the market price.

An active market for an asset is a market in which transactions for the asset occur with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
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The principal example of an entity-specific measurement in accounting standards is value-in-use.

Value in use is a measurement basis used in certain circumstances to determine whether items of

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are impaired and should be written down to their

recoverable amounts. Value in use is defined in IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’, as “the present value of

the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or cash-generating unit”. It reflects the cash

flows expected from continuing use of the asset and from its ultimate disposal.

Assets traded in active markets

3.10

Some believe that the requirement to use a market value for assets held to fund pension liabilities

should be reconsidered and that there is a case to be made for an entity-specific measurement. This

would apply to all such assets, including assets that are traded in active markets®. The following

arguments are made for this viewpoint:

(a)

(b)

(d)

Assets that are held to provide funds for retirement benefit obligations have a different use from
similar assets that are held for trading or speculative purposes; an entity-specific value would

reflect that different use when there was no current intention to sell.

If an entity believes an investment is worth holding for the long-term to provide funds for pension
obligations and has the ability to do so, variability in market prices (which reflects among many
other things short-term variations in the pricing of risks in the markets and hence in the risk
premiums relating to different classes of assets) does not necessarily change the investment’s
fundamental value to the entity. This is particularly true when markets are temporarily dislocated
at a financial reporting date. Stated differently, if an investment is held at least partly for the
purpose of receiving income over a long period, short-term fluctuations in market prices do not
affect the cash flows that are expected to be contributed by the employer to meet its long-term

obligations and it is wrong to reflect them in the financial statements.

Measuring all assets at today’s market prices fails to inform users about the expected benefits of
different asset allocation and investment strategies. An argument that is sometimes raised against
entity-specific measures is that an investment in bonds with a market price of CU 1,000 is worth
the same, and should be reported at the same amount, as an investment in equities with a market
price of CU 1,000. That argument is simplistic because the expected future cash flows or future
prices are not the same. Studies have shown that equities have outperformed corporate bonds
and government securities over long periods. There should be a way of reflecting expected future

values when the related liabilities will mature.

Many plans have diversified out of quoted securities into alternative investments such as private

equity. Valuations of such assets that are derived using valuation techniques tend to smooth out

An active market has the same meaning as in other accounting standards dealing with measurement of
financial instruments. For example, this would correspond to Level 1 inputs in the fair value hierarchy
in SFAS 157 (see paragraph 3.7 above).
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the short-term volatility that is reflected in quoted market prices, with the result that the present
accounting requirements make them appear to be less, rather than more, risky than quoted

securities.

(e) The existing accounting standards have driven employers and trustees to make sub-optimal
decisions in relation to funding long-term obligations by encouraging investments in assets with

low returns to minimise accounting (or volatility) risk in the short-term.

3.11  Others note that, in general, the concept of an entity-specific value such as value in use is
restricted in accounting standards to tangible or intangible assets that are used in a business, for example
in measuring the recoverable amount of plant or equipment. They believe that assets that are held to
provide funds for pensions do not yield economic benefits through use in the entity’s business; instead
their function is to hold a store of value. Under this view it is not relevant to distinguish similar assets
held by different entities in the same way that specialised assets might be viewed in the context of specific

owners, because the store of value cannot be worth more to the entity than market value.

3.12  Having said that, they note that the different viewpoints on market-based or entity-specific
approaches essentially focus on the measurement of holdings of securities (especially equities) that are
traded in active markets, the issue being whether they should be measured at market values or other
estimate of current value. For other types of assets, valuation techniques (often based on discounted cash
flows) are usually required to estimate current values under either approach. So the issue appears to be
not so much about entity-specific and market-based measures per se, but rather whether a valuation
technique can be used instead of a market value when the latter is available. They believe that the change
from some previous accounting standards on pensions, which allowed assets to be measured at actuarial
values, to the present accounting standards, which require such assets to be measured at market values,

was well founded in the context of such assets for the following reasons:

(a) When the asset in question is, for example, a small parcel of shares in a quoted company, a case
for reflecting the current market value in the owner’s financial statements is based on the
existence of a market. Given a number of assumptions, it represents the amount that could be
received from sale of the asset, and also the cost that the owner would incur in obtaining an
equivalent asset. In addition it can be argued that it represents the market’s assessment of the
present value of future cash flows and, as it has been specified it is a small parcel, it does not
confer significant rights to influence the investee, so these cash flows are the same irrespective of

the owner.

(b) It is not possible to know whether an asset’s market value is above or below its “fundamental
value’. The market value might not be a good representation of the asset’s value in the long-term,
but it is the best estimate available at the time. Put another way, why should an entity be able to
make a better assessment of value than the market? Furthermore, whilst it is acknowledged that
markets are sometimes dislocated, it is considered that it is not possible to isolate the factors that

might give rise to a different long-term value.
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Chapter 6: Measurement of assets held to pay benefits

Most would agree that, for assets that do not have a market value, there are more ways of

influencing the number that is reported in the balance sheet. But that does not justify allowing a
valuation technique to be used when there is a market value; if there is a difference between the
market value and the output from a valuation technique, it is possible that something is missing

from the valuation model.

It cannot be plausibly contended that, at the balance sheet date, the entity would willingly and
rationally either pay more than the market price to acquire an identical asset, nor would it
willingly and rationally accept less than the market price. The asset’s economic value cannot

exceed the price at which it could be replaced.

The argument that an investment in bonds with a market value of CU 1,000 is worth the same as
an investment in equities with a market value of CU 1,000 is correct in the context of financial
statements drawn up at the measurement date. Any extra return that is expected to be earned
from investing in riskier classes of assets is a reward for taking extra risk and should be accounted
for in future periods. It would be inappropriate for an accounting model to recognise the
expected future value of assets in the statements of an entity’s current financial position and
performance; that would be likely to reflect a financial position that a risk-seeking strategy for
investment is more valuable than a risk-averse strategy. When a decision is made to invest in
bonds or equities to provide funds to meet a liability, it is not possible to say whether one is

inherently more valuable than the other. 3

An accounting model that might require an entity to report an increase in its net assets by
changing its investment strategy by, say, switching from bonds to equities is flawed — no value
has (yet) been added by changing the asset allocation. A problem with the argument for a higher
value than market value is that it would appear that an entity could report an immediate gain by
increasing leverage — for example, if it borrowed for investment, it would report an additional
asset if it expected to earn a higher return than the rate at which it had borrowed. The entity’s
own perception of the value of its investment strategy should be communicated by disclosure not

recognition.

Investing in volatile assets to provide funds for long-term liabilities is a volatile business
proposition, so it is not surprising that the accounting numbers might reflect that volatility.
However, the basis for reporting the financial position at a point in time does not imply that it is
or is not rational for employers and trustees to take investment decisions about funding long-term

obligations that do not seek to minimise accounting risk.

Some claim that holding equities for longer periods increases rather than reduces risk because there is
more chance of experiencing a disaster over a long period; they illustrate this with the higher cost of
insuring against the risk of earning less than a risk-free rate of interest.
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3.13  In the light of the foregoing discussion, this paper advances the view that the present
requirement in pensions accounting standards that assets traded in active markets are measured at

market values is well founded.

Large holdings*

3.14  Some are concerned about market prices being effectively marginal prices based on relatively
small quantities of securities and not necessarily on the total quantity of securities held by a particular
plan, if the plan has a large holding. For example, the ‘Normal Market Size” (NMS), as defined by the
London Stock Exchange, is the percentage of an individual company’s stock for which a market maker is
obliged to provide a quote. NMS is normally only 2.5% of the total volume of shares for the company in
question and market makers are not obliged to provide a quote for any transaction of a size in excess of
NMS.

3.15  The question arises, therefore, if a large holding of a security is being measured, whether the
market price of an individual security multiplied by the number of shares provides the appropriate

measurement, or whether that value should be adjusted to reflect the illiquidity of the large position.

3.16  This issue is not specific to pension plans, however. It applies to any large holdings that are
reported in financial statements at a market-based measure. It is therefore beyond the scope of this paper
to address it, other than to highlight it as a matter that is currently under debate (by noting below the
position taken in the aforementioned IASB Discussion Paper ‘Fair Value Measurement” and SFAS 157),
because the view has been taken that there are no special reasons why the financial reporting
requirements for pension plan assets should differ in this respect from the financial reporting

requirements that apply to financial assets generally.

3.17  The Discussion Paper ‘Fair Value Measurement’ (which incorporates SFAS 157) proposes that if
an entity has a large holding in an asset that is traded in an active market, no adjustment is made to the
quoted market price because of the size of the position relative to trading volume (blockage factor) — even
if the market’s normal daily trading volume is not sufficient to absorb the quantity held and placing
orders to sell the position in a single transaction might affect the quoted price. The IASB observes that
this treatment is similar to the guidance in its standards on financial instruments, noting that the

illiquidity of an individual instrument is not affected by the size of a position held by an entity.””

3.18  The issue relates to whether the unit of account is (a) the individual security or (b) a block of
securities. Insight into the FASB’s reasoning for concluding that the unit of account is the individual

security is given in the following extract from the Basis for Conclusions to SFAS 157 (paragraph C79):

This paper does not address situations in which an asset is a shareholding in another entity that
provides a controlling interest.

> The IASB asked respondents to its discussion paper for their views on this issue.
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“In reaching that decision, the majority of the Board affirmed its conclusions relating to the prohibition on
the use of blockage factors in other FASB Statements. In particular, the Board emphasized that when a
quoted price in an active market for a security is available, that price should be used to measure fair value
without regard to an entity’s intent to transact at that price. Basing the fair value on the quoted price
results in comparable reporting. Adjusting the price for the size of the position introduces management
intent (to trade in blocks) into the measurement, reducing comparability. Following the reasoning used in
Statement 107, the quoted price provides useful information because investors regularly rely on quoted
prices for decision making. Also, the decision to exchange a large position in a single transaction at a
price lower than the price that would be available if the position were to be exchanged in multiple
transactions (in smaller quantities) is a decision whose consequences should be reported when that
decision is executed. Until that transaction occurs, the entity that holds the block has the ability to effect
the transaction either in the block market or in another market (the principal or more advantageous

market for the individual trading unit).”

Investment strategy

3.19  Arguments for an entity-specific measurement call into question how the value to the entity of the

investment strategy it is pursuing to meet its obligations should be reported to users.

3.20  Establishing a strategy requires an assessment of future investment returns on assets held to meet
the obligations and the ability of the employer to make further contributions if they are required. The
strength of the employer’s covenant may affect decision-makers’ views of an appropriate risk profile of
the assets. Users are interested in the employer’s ability to continue to meet its obligations as they fall

due, out of resources currently set aside and resources potentially available.

3.21  Some argue that the role played by the investment strategy in meeting the obligation should be
reflected as some kind of asset in order to show a balanced view of the assets and liabilities. This asset
would represent a value placed on the future cash flows from the investments that is not reflected in the
current market value and could perhaps be shown separately as an addition to (or possibly in some

circumstances a subtraction from) the market value.

3.22  Most contributors to this paper take the view, for the reason given in paragraph 3.12(f) above, that
the role of investment strategy in meeting obligations to pay benefits requires explanation (rather than

recognition) in financial statements (see Chapter 9).

3.23  This paper advances the view that the role of investment strategy in meeting obligations to pay

benefits requires explanation (rather than recognition) in financial statements.

Assets not traded in active markets

3.24  The above discussion has largely related to the existence of an active market for the types of assets

under consideration. This raises questions about the treatment of alternative investments that are not
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traded in active markets with quoted prices, such as properties and unlisted equity investments.

3.25  The discussion earlier in this Chapter about the relevance of market-based and entity-specific
measures is also applicable to assets not traded in active markets, and a similar conclusion might be
drawn to that in paragraph 3.11 that the types of assets under consideration cannot be worth more to the
entity than values at which they could be exchanged.

3.26  The discussion then turns to the relevance of alternative methods of measuring such assets. Some
consider that there should be fallback to the treatment of similar assets in other IFRS, rather than a

different set of requirements for assets held to provide funds for pensions. For example:

. applying IAS 40 ‘Investment Property” would allow property interests to be reported under a

fair value model or a cost model;

. applying IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” would suggest that a
cost model should be used to measure investments in equity instruments that do not have a

quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

3.27  IAS 19 does not make an exception to a fair value measurement principle for plan assets. Also,
earlier in this Chapter, it has been proposed that reporting assets held to pay benefits at current values
provides more useful information than historical measures (see paragraph 3.3). Under this view, a cost
model would result in an accounting mismatch in respect of the treatments of assets and related liabilities,

presenting a misleading view of the net position.

3.28  Moreover, it seems reasonable to presume in setting financial reporting requirements that if assets
are being held to provide pensions and security of pensions, those responsible should have some idea of
their value on an ongoing basis, and that there is some methodology available for estimating their value,
otherwise questions would be raised about accountability and governance. This paper therefore supports
the position that there is a stronger case for requiring that assets held to pay pensions should be reported
at current values than necessarily would apply to similar assets held for other purposes — for example, the
case for a concession such as that in IAS 39 in respect of unquoted equities seems less strong in the case of

pension plans.

3.29  There is guidance in other accounting standards on valuation techniques for estimating fair values
of assets that are not traded in active markets. For example, IAS 40 states that the fair value of investment
property shall reflect market conditions at the balance sheet date and describes valuation techniques
ranging from comparisons with current values of similar properties to discounted cash flow projections
using discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing
of the cash flows. Similarly, IAS 39 describes a range of valuation techniques for estimating the fair value
of financial instruments in the absence of an active market, which include reference to current fair values
of similar instruments, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. Since the objective of

using such techniques is to estimate a current value, and they are intended to be consistent with a market-
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based approach for measuring assets that are traded in active markets, such techniques should also be

appropriate for measuring assets held to fund pension liabilities. It is important that financial statements

include appropriate disclosures about the valuation techniques, because valuations can be sensitive to the

assumptions that have been used.

3.30

Some of the issues touched on above are issues that should concern the various industries in

which assets of pension plans are now investing, because they would have to respond by delivering

relevant information about values to those who are accountable for such assets.

3.31

In the light of the foregoing discussion, this paper advances the view that:

When an asset is not traded in an active market, a current value should be estimated using a valuation

technique in accordance with the guidance in other accounting standards.

(b)

(©

(d)

Summary

This Chapter advances the following views on the measurement of assets held to pay benefits:

Reporting assets held to pay benefits at current values provides more useful information than
reporting them at historical measures. This is consistent with the views presented on measuring

liabilities to pay benefits. (Paragraphs 3.2-3.3)

The present requirement in pensions accounting standards that assets traded in active markets are

measured at market values is well founded. (Paragraphs 3.10-3.13)

The role of investment strategy in meeting obligations to pay benefits requires explanation (rather
than recognition) in financial statements. (Paragraphs 3.19-3.23)

When an asset is not traded in an active market, a current value should be estimated using a
valuation technique in accordance with the guidance in other accounting standards. (Paragraphs
3.24-3.31)
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APPENDIX A

Requirements for measurement of assets under IFRS (except pensions)

Asset Measurement method

Financial assets: held for trading Fair value [IAS 39]

(including derivatives)

Financial assets: held-to-maturity | Amortised cost using the effective interest method

investments [LAS 39]

Financial assets: loans and Amortised cost using the effective interest method
receivables (not quoted in an active | [IAS 39]

market)

Financial assets: available-for-sale | Fair value [IAS 39]

Financial assets designated at fair Fair value [IAS 39]

value through profit or loss®

Unquoted equity instruments Cost [IAS 39]

whose fair value cannot be reliably

measured

Investment property Fair value model or cost model [IAS 40]

Property, plant and equipment Cost model or revaluation model (based on current

fair value) [IAS 16]

Measurement not to exceed recoverable amount (i.e.
higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in

use) [IAS 36]

An entity is permitted to designate a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss when it results
in more relevant information than other bases, including when it eliminates or significantly reduces an
‘accounting mismatch’ that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases.
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APPENDIX B

Accounting standards on pensions

B1

Accounting standards on retirement benefits distinguish assets held to fund liabilities to pay

pensions from other similar assets held by an entity. For example:

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

IAS 19 does this by creating a separate class of asset — plan assets. Plan assets are assets that exist
solely to pay or fund benefits and are completely ring-fenced from other claims on the entity ’.
Plan assets — measured at fair value - are deducted from the present value of defined benefit
obligations in arriving at the measurement of a net liability (or asset). In no circumstances are

‘plan assets” as defined in IAS 19 reported separately as assets of the employing entity.

SFAS 87 (as amended by SFAS 158) requires the funded status of a benefit plan — measured as the
difference between the fair value of plan assets (with limited exceptions) and the benefit

obligation — to be recognised in the employer’s statement of financial position.

The UK standard FRS 17 requires assets in a defined benefit scheme to be measured at their fair
value at the balance sheet date for the purpose of measuring the surplus or deficit to be recognised

in the employer’s balance sheet.

The international accounting standard concerning financial reporting by retirement benefit plans,
IAS 26 “Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans’, requires investment assets to be
carried at fair value (which in the case of marketable securities is market value) unless an estimate

of fair value is not possible.8

Assets held by a long-term employee benefit fund are defined in IAS 19 as assets (other than non-
transferable financial instruments issued by the reporting entity) that:

(a) are held by an entity (a fund) that is legally separate from the reporting entity and exists solely to

pay or fund employee benefits; and

(b) are available to be used only to pay or fund employee benefits, are not available to the reporting

entity’s own creditors (even in bankruptcy), and cannot be returned to the reporting entity, unless either:

(i) the remaining assets of the fund are sufficient to meet all the related employee benefit obligations of
the plan or the reporting entity; or

(ii) the assets are returned to the reporting entity to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid.

However, IAS 26 permits securities that have a fixed redemption value and that have been acquired to

match the obligations of the plan, or specific parts thereof, to be measured on an amortised cost basis.
IAS 19 does not allow that alternative measurement basis to be used.
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B2 The former IASC put forward the following arguments for using market values for plan assets
during the development of a new IAS 19:°

(a) the use of market values enhances comparability between enterprises and reliability by
diminishing the need for subjective estimates of long-term trends; in the absence of compelling
evidence to the contrary, assumptions about future economic conditions should be based on

current economic conditions.

(b) market values are the best estimate of the future economic benefits associated with plan assets.
Therefore, changes in market values of plan assets have a direct impact on the expected future

cash outflows (in the form of contributions) of resources embodying economic benefits.

B3 SFAS 87 explains the requirement to use fair value as follows:°

“The Board concluded that plan investments should be measured at fair value.....Fair value provides the
most relevant information that can be provided for assessing both the plan’s ability to pay benefits as they
come due without further contributions from the employer and the future contributions necessary to

provide for benefits already promised to employees....”

B4 The UK ASB explains the use of fair value in FRS 17 as follows:

“...the Board did not believe that there were sufficient reasons for the UK to differ from the rest of the
world by measuring scheme assets at an actuarial value that did not equal fair value. In addition, and
perhaps more importantly, it was clear that substantial changes were taking place within the actuarial
profession relating to the traditional actuarial methodologies for measuring assets in a pension scheme.
Of the actuaries responding to the 1995 Discussion Paper, all but one supported the use of actuarial
valuations. Of the actuaries responding to the 1998 Discussion Paper, all but one supported the use of
market values. Given this, and the advantages of market values in terms of objectivity and

understandability, the Board believes there is no credible alternative to their use.”

’ IASC Issues Paper ‘Retirement benefits and other employee benefit costs” August 1995. The IASC

subsequently decided that plan assets should be measured at fair value.

10 SEAS 87, paragraph 117.
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1 Introduction

1.1 This Chapter discusses the measurement of assets and liabilities shown in the sponsoring
employer’s financial statements when a separate trust or similar entity" is established to hold assets to pay

benefits.

1.2 Chapter 3 identifies three possibilities for reporting assets and liabilities in an employer’s financial

statements when assets are held by an employer-sponsored trust:

(a) Consolidate the trust in the employer’s consolidated financial statements — when the assets and the
liability to pay benefits are held by a separate trust which falls to be consolidated by the employer
(see section 3 of Chapter 3).

(b) Show a right to reimbursement from a trust as an asset (and show separately the liability to pay
benefits) — when the employer has a direct obligation to pay benefits (see paragraph 2.34 of
Chapter 3).

() Show a net liability or asset — when the trust has the liability to pay benefits and the employer has
an obligation to support the trust (see paragraph 2.39 of Chapter 3).

Each of the above is considered in the following sections.

2 Consolidation of a trust

21 If a trust falls to be consolidated in the sponsoring employer’s consolidated financial statements,
the discussion in Chapter 6 regarding the measurement of assets held to pay benefits and Chapter 5
regarding the measurement of liabilities to pay benefits is relevant to the measurement of assets and

liabilities shown in the employer’s consolidated balance sheet because they are measured directly.

3 Recognition of aright to reimbursement from the trust

3.1 The recognition of a right to reimbursement might arise when the employer has a direct obligation

to pay benefits and, separately, a right to be reimbursed from the trust.

3.2 The economic benefits that are available from the right to be reimbursed from the trust are similar
to the economic benefits that would be available if the assets were held directly by the employer.
Therefore, it seems reasonable to take the view that the measurements should be consistent, i.e. the right

to reimbursement should be measured on the same basis as the underlying assets held by the trust.

! For brevity, this Chapter uses the term “trust’.
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3.3 IFRIC 5 ‘Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental
Rehabilitation Funds’ adopts a similar position; measurement of the right to receive reimbursement from
a fund is based on the contributor’s share of the fair value of the net assets of the fund attributable to

contributors.

3.4 If the amount of assets held by the trust exceeds the amount of the liability to pay benefits, the
amount of the right to reimbursement may need to be reduced if there is any restriction (by law or
contract) on the employer recovering surplus assets (as measured for the purpose of financial statement

reporting) from the trust.

4 Recognition of a net liability or asset

4.1 In Chapter 3 it is argued that where it is determined that a sponsoring employer does not have
control of a trust, the trust should not be consolidated. Instead the employer’s financial statements should
present a net asset or liability that reflects its right to benefit from a surplus or its obligation to contribute
to a deficit. The rationale for a ‘net’ presentation is that, from the employer’s perspective, its liability to
provide pension benefits is partially settled by making contributions to the trust. Any remaining
exposure arises only to the extent that the assets of the trust are insufficient to meet the liabilities to pay
benefits and the employer has an obligation to make good any deficit. In that model the assets held by the

trust and the liability to pay benefits are assets and liabilities of the trust, not the employer.

4.2 Under present accounting standards on pensions, the employer’s net exposure is measured as the
difference between the two underlying gross amounts, each being measured as if they were assets and
liabilities of the employer. That treatment reflects the view that the entity’s net economic exposure is
similar, whether its rights and obligations are reported on a gross or net basis — in the latter case, the

employer remains exposed to movements in the gross amounts of assets and liabilities.

View that employer’s net interest should be measured by reference to its obligation to pay contributions

4.3 Some argue that the existing model of ‘quasi-consolidation” does not properly reflect the nature of
the employer’s interest in some arrangements in which assets are ring-fenced in separate trusts, with
independent responsibilities, that are beyond the control of the employer. It is argued that, if the
underlying assets and liabilities belong to the trust and the trust is not consolidated because it is not
controlled by the employer, the employer’s (net) interest in the trust could be measured directly — on the
basis of cash flows expected to be contributed from the employer to the trust — rather than being

measured as if the assets and liabilities of the trust belonged to the employer.

4.4 On this view, the employer’s interest is a net liability or asset that reflects a long-term measure of
the cash inflows and outflows of the trust. Cash inflows include cash generated from the assets of the
trust and contributions from employees; cash outflows include the payment of benefits. Under such an
approach, the employer would recognise a liability when there is a shortfall in expected cash flows of the

trust that has to be met by the employer, i.e. when the cash flows from the assets of the trust are not
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expected to be sufficient to meet its liabilities. Measurement of the liability would then reflect the
employer’s obligation to pay contributions to the trust in order that the trust can meet its liabilities when
they fall due. Similarly, the employer would recognise an asset when there is a surplus in expected cash
flows of the trust and the employer had the right to benefit from that surplus.

4.5 To take a very simple example for illustration, consider a situation where the underlying assets
and liabilities would be measured at 80 and 100 respectively under the principles set out in Chapters 5
and 6 if they were held directly by the employer, leaving a net deficit of 20. The employer’s obligation to
the trust (in respect of benefits earned for past service) is expected to be met by seven annual contribution
payments of 3, after taking into account the expected returns on investments. The present value of the
expected payments is, say, 15. Why should the employer not report a net liability of 15 (based on its
expected future contribution of 21) instead of 20?

4.6 The arguments for such an approach to some extent mirror the arguments for allowing an entity-
specific measure (rather than a market-based measure) of the assets (see paragraph 3.11 of Chapter 6).
The thrust of the concerns is that, for traditional defined benefit plans in particular, the accounting model
fails to recognise how liabilities to pay benefits are expected to be met out of future cash flows from assets
and contributions from employers. Some point to ‘structural deficits’ shown on employers” balance
sheets when funds are invested in assets that are expected to earn higher rates of return than the rate at
which the liabilities are discounted and claim that this is misleading when a scheme that is considered to
be adequately funded on a cash flow basis.

View that employer’s net interest should be measured as the difference between the underlying assets held and

liabilities to pay benefits

4.7 Others point out that the approach in paragraph 4.5 implicitly places a different value on the
assets or the liabilities than if they were measured directly under the principles set out in Chapters 5 and
6, because there is an assumption about the level of future investment returns on the assets that will be
available to meet the benefit cash outflows. In their view that is wrong, because it is like saying, if
someone has a long-term liability that is worth 100 and sets aside assets of 80 which are expected to grow
to meet the liability when it falls due, then either the assets should be written up to 100 or the liability
should be written down to 80.

4.8 A crucial consideration is that the above approach fails to capture an important element of the
employer’s obligation to the trust. That is the obligation to pay more into the trust if the trust’s assets do
not perform as expected and are insufficient to meet its liabilities. In other words, seven payments of 3
might not be enough. If there is in effect an additional constructive (or ‘stand-ready’) obligation provided
by the employer, it is a present obligation that ought to be reflected in the net liability that is reported in
the employer’s financial statements. Furthermore, if the trust’s assets include risky investments that are
expected to produce higher returns to finance part of the deficit, the value of that additional obligation
(i.e. reflecting the risk that the assets will not perform as expected) could be significant.
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assets held in various scenarios for funding;:
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. the first is when there are no separate assets;
. the second is when separate assets are held by the employer;
o the third is when separate assets are held by a separate trust, but the employer has a direct

obligation to pay benefits;

o the fourth is when separate assets are held by a separate trust, the trust has the liability to pay

benefits and the employer has an obligation to support the trust.

Who has liability | Who holds assets? | Measurement of Measurement of
to pay benefits? liability assets
1 Employer None Settlement N/A
amount
2 Employer Employer Settlement Current value
amount
3 Employer Trust (employer Settlement Current value
has right to amount
reimbursement)
4 Trust Trust Settlement amount of liability less
current value of assets

410  The following economic similarities and differences might be suggested:

o The liability in scenario 2 is similar to that in scenario 1 except for credit risk.?

o The liability in scenario 3 is similar to that in scenario 2 except for credit risk (the beneficiaries

are presumably better off in scenario 3 because they are better protected from the risk that

Views on reflecting credit risk in the measurement of liabilities are discussed in Chapter 5.
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promised pensions will not be paid). The economic benefits from the assets that accrue to the

employer in scenario 3 are similar to scenario 2.

. In scenario 4, the employer has an obligation to fund any shortfall should the assets held by the
trust be insufficient to settle the liability to pay benefits. It is suggested that no additional
economic value is created compared to scenario 3 by using that vehicle; the employer has similar
economic exposures that arise from the underlying assets and liabilities of the trust including,
where applicable, mortality, inflation and investment risks. The value of the employer’s net
obligation in scenarios 3 and 4 (after deducting the value of the assets held by the trusts) appear

therefore to be similar.

411  In the light of the foregoing discussion, this paper concludes that:

If the contractual arrangements result in a ‘net’ asset or liability being representative of the employer’s
rights and obligations, the measurement of the net amount should be based on the difference between
the amounts at which the assets and liabilities would be measured if they were measured directly,

subject to reflecting the effect of any restrictions on the assets.

5 Summary

5.1 This Chapter discusses the measurement of assets and liabilities shown in the sponsoring
employer’s financial statements when a separate trust or similar entity is established to hold assets to pay
benefits. It concludes that:

o If the employer has a direct obligation to pay benefits and a right to be reimbursed by a trust, its
right to reimbursement should be measured on the same basis as the underlying assets held by
the trust. (Section 3)

. If the contractual arrangements result in a ‘net” asset or liability being representative of the
employer’s rights and obligations, the measurement of the net amount should be based on the
difference between the amounts at which the assets and liabilities would be measured if they

were measured directly, subject to reflecting the effect of any restrictions on the assets. (Section
4)
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Chapter 8: Presentation in the financial statements

1 Introduction

1.1 This Chapter considers how liabilities to pay pension benefits and assets held to pay them and the

changes in these should be presented in financial statements.

1.2 In developing this Chapter of the discussion paper consideration was given as to whether (in view
of the IASB and FASB ongoing project) now was an appropriate time to consider how amounts related to
pensions might be presented within the financial statements, that is deferring the discussion of
presentation until completion of the IASB project. However, it was considered that such an approach
would leave the project incomplete, and that many might find it difficult to comment on proposals for the
recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities without some indication of how they, and changes

in them, might be presented.

1.3 It was therefore concluded that consideration should be given as to how to present amounts

related to pensions within the structure set out in IAS 1‘Presentation of Financial Statements’.

2 Assumed model for presentation of financial statements

2.1 In order to consider how to present amounts related to pensions in the financial statements it is
necessary to decide on the framework for the presentation of financial statements. The IASB and the
FASB are currently undertaking a project which is reconsidering the presentation of information in

financial statements.

22 As part of that project the IASB has recently issued a revised IAS 1. The publication of IAS 1
represents the outcome from phase A of the joint project. Phase A of the project addresses the statements
that constitute a complete set of financial statements and the periods for which they are required to be

presented.

2.3 The objective of the project is to develop requirements for the presentation of information in
financial statements in ways that will improve the ability of investors, creditors, and other financial

statements users to:

(1) understand an entity’s present and past financial position;

2 understand the past operating, financing, and other activities that caused an entity’s financial
p P g g
position to change and the components of those changes; and

3) use that financial statement information (along with information from other sources) to assess the
amounts, timing, and uncertainty of an entity’s future cash flows.
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2.4 IAS 1 (paragraph 10) states that a complete set of financial statements comprises:

(a) a statement of financial position as at the end of the period;

(b) a statement of comprehensive income for the period;

() a statement of changes in equity in the period;

(d) a statement of cash flows for the period;

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information; and

(f) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period when an
entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of an item
in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies an item in its financial statements.

2.5 Prior to considering how to present amounts related to pensions in the financial statements a
review of the structure of the statement of comprehensive income might be useful. IAS 1 (paragraph 81)

provides :

An entity shall present all items of income and expense recognised in a period:
(a) in a single statement of comprehensive income; or

(b) in two statements: a statement displaying components of profit or loss (income statement) and a
second statement beginning with profit or loss and displaying components of other
comprehensive income (statement of comprehensive income).

2.6 In addition, paragraph 82 of IAS 1 provides a list of items to be included and notes that the

statement of comprehensive income shall include a line item of finance costs.

2.7 In considering how to present amounts related to pensions in the financial statements for the
purposes of this discussion paper it was decided that the structure and content as set out in IAS 1 should
be used. This is because IAS 1 (as issued September 2007) represents the decisions already reached by the
IASB in phase 1 of its project.

2.8 One of the issues that the IASB and FASB are considering as part of phase B of the presentation of
financial statements project is the separation of an entity’s financing activities from its business and other
activities. The IASB and FASB have tentatively decided that financial statements should present
information in a manner that (amongst other things) separates an entity’s financing activities from its
business and other activities and further separates financing activities into transactions with owners in

their capacity as owners and all other financing activities.
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29 Although the IASB and FASB are considering the distinction between business and financing
activities, current accounting standards (including IAS 1) do not make such a distinction. This makes the
task of discussing how to present amounts related to pensions within the statement of comprehensive
income difficult. To render discussion easier in this Chapter we have assumed that financial performance

will be reported in a manner that has separate components for:

. Operating activities;
. Financing; and
. Other financial performance

210  ‘Operating profit’ is not currently defined in IFRS, and this paper makes no attempt to offer a

definition, as the general sense is sufficient.

211  An appendix to this Chapter briefly sets out an alternative approach to the reporting of returns on
assets and interest expense. This could not be considered in the body of this paper as it is fundamentally

inconsistent with IAS 1.

3 Should changes in pension assets and liabilities be disaggregated?

3.1 Existing financial reporting standards vary on how the pension cost should be presented in the
statement of comprehensive income. IAS 19 notes that the standard does not specify whether an entity
should present current service cost, interest cost and the expected return on assets as components of a
single item of income or expense on the face of the profit or loss account. SFAS 87 includes in the net
periodic pension cost, the service cost, interest cost, return on assets and actuarial gains and losses, as one
amount. It is, however, noted in the Basis for Conclusions to SFAS 87 that understanding of pension

accounting is facilitated by considering the components of net periodic pension cost separately.

3.2 In contrast to SFAS 87, FRS 17 specifies the financial reporting of individual amounts arising from

the changes in assets and liabilities should be presented. It distinguishes the following:

171



The financial reporting of pensions

Component Represents

Current service cost The increase in the present value of liabilities for
pensions expected to arise from employee service in the
current period.

Interest cost The expected increase during the period in the present
value of the liabilities for pensions because the benefits
are one period closer to settlement.

Actuarial gains and losses Changes in actuarial deficits or surpluses that arise
because:

(a) events have not coincided with the actuarial
assumptions made for the last valuation (experience
gains and losses) or

(b) the actuarial assumptions have changed.

Expected return on assets The average rate of return, including both income and
changes in fair value, but net of scheme expenses
expected over the remaining life of the related obligation
on the actual assets held by the scheme.

Non-periodic pension costs Non-periodic costs arise from settlement, curtailments or

changes in the benefits provided by the pension plan.

3.3 The differing approaches of current financial reporting standards suggest that the first question to
consider is whether presentation of the individual components that make up the total movement in
liabilities to pay pensions and assets held to fund those liabilities (referred to as ‘separate presentation’)
provides more useful information to users of financial statements than that of presenting a single amount

for the pension cost (‘net presentation”).

3.4 Previous Chapters have suggested that there are circumstances in which an employer’s balance
sheet would show as separate items a liability (for example, to pay pensions) and assets (investments held
to provide those benefits). This might be the case either in an employer’s individual financial statements
or where a separate trust is consolidated. In such cases, it would seem natural that changes in the assets
and liabilities would be shown separately and not aggregated into a single net number. However, it has
also been noted that in some circumstances, which probably arise quite commonly in practice, an
employer’s balance sheet will only show a ‘net’ number as it has a single asset or liability representing its

interest in another entity such as a trust.

3.5 Where only a single amount is presented in the balance sheet a net presentation of changes in that
amount might be favoured, especially as that amount is stated at a current value. This would be
consistent with a view that any analysis of the change into components is arbitrary and therefore of
limited value. However there are other items in the balance sheet which are presented as a single
amount, but changes are presented separately; for example debtors are generally presented net of

provisions whilst provisions against debtors may be recharged to operating costs and interest charged to
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debtors may be shown as part of financing income although the debtors are represented as a single

number on the balance sheet.

3.6 An advantage of separate presentation is that it improves comparability between two entities. It
allows, for example, a distinction to be drawn between the cost of benefits and how those benefits are

financed - that is a distinction can be drawn (at least) between operating and financing amounts.

3.7 For example the service cost may be seen as representing part of the total employment cost for
the period, on the view that employees services have been obtained in exchange for salaries and other
benefits of which the promise of pension benefits is a part. Unless a distinction is drawn either the
current employment costs for the period are either understated (by omitting the value of pension
promises made in the year) or overstated (by including interest expense). Meaningful comparison

between entities is therefore enhanced by making the distinction.

3.8 Another reason for favouring separate presentation is that the changes in the assets and liabilities
arise from different drivers and so have different predictive value. The interest cost is a function of the
discount rate used and the size of the liability: in contrast the service cost for pensions is often a function
of other employment costs and is affected by numbers of staff employed and changes in salary costs,
which in turn are affected by inflation rates and other factors. Separate presentation enhances the ability
of users to make predictions because their predictions can reflect their assessment of the possible changes

in the underlying drivers.

3.9 As noted at the start of this Chapter, one of the objectives of the IASB and FASB presentation of
financial statements project is to improve users’ ability to understand past operating and financing
decisions. Developing this objective suggests that if users are to understand the changes in assets and
liabilities for pensions, a distinction needs to be drawn in the information presented regarding how the
changes in assets and liabilities are related to operating and how they are related to financing decisions.
Under this presentation elements of the pension cost are recorded depending on how the underlying asset
or liability has changed, where the liability changes through financing decisions this amount is presented

as part of financing — that is separate presentation is preferred.

3.10  The view taken in this paper is that changes in assets and liabilities relating to the provision of
pension benefits arise from different drivers in the underlying assets and liabilities and hence have

different predictive value. For this reason, they should be presented separately in reporting financial

performance.
4 Presentation of service and interest cost
4.1 Having decided that different components of the income and expenses arising from the provision

of pension benefits should be presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the next
step is to consider how to present the individual changes arising from the movement in assets and

liabilities. We might start by considering how to present the movement in liabilities.

173



The financial reporting of pensions

Service cost

4.2 The presentation of service cost was discussed to some extent above, paragraphs 3.6-3.8. The
fundamental point is that service cost is that part of the change in the liabilities for pension between one
accounting period and the next that arises because pension benefits have been granted to employees in
the period, generally in respect of their services during the period. It seems clear that this amount should

be presented as an operating item.

4.3 It was concluded in Chapter 2 (at paragraph 4.24) that a liability to pay benefits includes only
amounts that the entity is presently committed to pay by a legal or constructive obligation. It also
concluded that modifications to benefits are taken into account when they occur, and not whilst they are
merely possible (paragraph 4.69). Thus when the entity becomes committed to an increase in benefits, its

recorded liability will increase. This will include situations giving rise to ‘past service cost’.

4.4 This view implies that the change in benefits is a new transaction, and not merely the fulfilment of
a pre-existing arrangement. The change in benefits has presumably been granted in exchange for

services, and as such it should be recognised as part of the service cost.

45 It was also noted in Chapter 2 that, where benefits are related to salaries, some consider that a
liability to pay benefits should be based on current rather than future salaries. On this view, it follows
that the liability will increase when salaries are increased, as the value of the benefits (including those
calculated by reference to prior years’ service) is greater. That increase can be seen as an immediate cost

of awarding an increase in salary and so it should also be reported as part of the service cost.

4.7 Management may wish to discuss the service cost for a period. Such a discussion may refer to the
extent to which the total service cost for a period includes amounts such as those relating to changes in

benefits and salary increases that may not be expected to recur.

4.8 This paper adopts the view that the service cost should be reported within operating activities.

Interest cost

49 The interest cost represents the ‘unwinding’ of the present value of the liability to pay future
pensions. It thereby reflects the time value of money which many consider a financing item and hence
should be presented within financing costs in the statement of comprehensive income. There are however
others that consider financing should be representative only of the cost of liabilities that originate from an
entity’s capital-raising activities — this view would suggest that the interest cost would be reported in
operating income together with the service cost for pensions. However, it would appear preferable for
the interest on pension liabilities to be reported within financing as it represents the cost of deferring
settlement of a liability: if separate information on interest on capital instruments is required, this could

be provided by analysis of the amounts within financing.
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410  InJuly 2006 the IASB, as part of Phase B of its Presentation of Financial Statements project,

considered the distinction between amounts that form part of the return on business assets (operating)
and amounts that form part of the return to providers of finance (financing). As part of this discussion
the IASB considered the practical difficulties of deciding which amounts should form part of financing.

411  The IASB and FASB have developed a working format for presenting information within the basic
financial statements. The format divides the statement of comprehensive income into business,
discontinued operations and financing. The business category is then sub-divided into operating
category and investing category. The investing category would include assets and liabilities that are not
related to financing the entity’s business activities that management views as not integral to its business

activities.

412 In phase B of the project it would seem the interest arising on the unwinding of pension liabilities
might be classified as part of business but included in the investing category. This would arise where

management do not consider pensions to be part of the financing for the entity’s business activities.
g t do not ider pensions to be part of the fi ing for the entity’s busi tiviti

413  However, at present IAS1 does not provide the category discussed above and therefore the
question which arises is whether the ‘unwinding’ of the pension liability should be part of financing costs.
It would seem, given separate presentation is preferred, that although the cost does not arise from an

entity’s capital raising activities it should be included in financing costs.

414  Itis concluded that the unwinding of the liability for pensions should be presented within
financing costs as it represents the interest cost (time value of money) arising on the liability to pay

pension benefits at a future date.

5 Presentation of the movement in assets (expected and actual return)

5.1 Presently, International, US and UK standards all require the “expected” return on plan assets to

be recognised and reported within profit or loss.

52 Those who consider the expected return on assets should be reported as part of profit or loss do so
because it provides an insight into how the assets of the plan are predicted to contribute towards funding
the liabilities of the plan. The expected return on assets may therefore assist in predicting an entity’s

contributions to the plan.

53 Those that hold this view also consider that reporting the expected return on assets allows users to
asses “underlying sustainable earnings”. They are concerned that reporting the actual return on assets
would introduce significant volatility into reported income and earnings per share. In their view, this
does not reflect the fact that the assets of a pension plan are held with a view to producing a relatively
secure long-term return that will assist in funding pension liabilities and so the fluctuations in market

values do not affect the relatively stable cash flows between the employer and its pension plan. They
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would suggest that this long-term perspective is appropriate, and makes short-term volatility irrelevant.

5.4 In contrast, those that reject the use of the expected return suggest that the expected return on
assets is, at best, an amount estimated for budgetary purposes rather than the outcome from an economic
event. They therefore believe there is no conceptual reason for including the expected return on assets in

the statement of comprehensive income.

5.5 They consider that the use of the expected return is a way of “smoothing” and can lead to entities
reporting income which is not representative of the actual return on assets held to fund pension liabilities.
This is exacerbated as the difference between the expected and actual return on assets is treated as part of
actuarial gains and losses and presented either outside profit or loss as part of other comprehensive

income or spread over future accounting periods

5.6 Those that support this view also question the estimation of the expected return on assets. They
note that expected return is often not management’s assessment of the return but that recommended by
professional advisors. They also considered that estimates of returns are based on market expectations
rather than a unique assessment of the individual asset portfolio held by the pension plan - that is market

trends are followed rather an individual assessment made.

5.7 Finally those that do not support the use of the expected return also reject the argument that assets
of a pension plan are held with a long-term view and that changes in market values are therefore
irrelevant. They consider that it is not self evident that gains and losses will reverse —this may be the
objective of investment policies but that objective may not be realised. It may also be noted that there is

no non-arbitrary means of distinguishing irrelevant short-term changes from relevant long-term changes.

5.8 The purpose of financial statements clearly includes providing a report on the transactions and
events that have taken place in an accounting period. The expected return on assets does not represent a
transaction or event of the period, and therefore should not be reported in the financial statements. As
noted above, users of financial statements find the expected return on assets significant, but it would be
possible to meet this need by supplementary disclosure rather than by including the expected return in

the primary financial statements.

59 For the above reasons, it is concluded that financial statements should report the actual, rather

than the expected return on assets, and that disclosure of the expected return should be required.

510  This conclusion, however, leaves open the question of what the actual return on assets is. In part,
the debate questions whether financial returns can be analysed between income (dividends) and capital

growth (gains or losses that arise on holding investments).
5.11 Financial statements have in the past sometimes made a distinction between dividend income and

capital growth. The ‘dividend irrelevancy theory” argues, however, that the pattern of dividends is
irrelevant. That is, the value of a holding of a portfolio of equities should not be affected by the receipt of
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a dividend, because the value of equities will be reduced by the amount of the dividend received. This

suggests that income and capital can be allocated only, if at all, arbitrarily.

512 Opponents of the ‘dividend irrelevancy theory” argue the ‘traditional view’; which is that at any
particular point in time £1 of dividends is somehow more valuable than £1 of retained cash. Proponents
of this view use the dividend growth model to support their argument. They argue that an entity by
retaining part of its cash flow for reinvestment is replacing a certain cash flow (dividend now) with an
uncertain future cash flow (future capital growth). These proponents draw a distinction between income

(dividends) and capital growth.

513  The arguments of traditionalists are weak when analysed from a theoretical point of view. One
counter argument is, assuming a perfect capital market, if two companies are identical in every respect
except that their dividend retention ratios differ, and if the market values retained earnings differently
from dividends, the market prices of the companies will be in disequilibrium. This will allow investors to
undertake profitable arbitrage transactions, replacing dividends by selling part of shareholdings.

514  This analysis suggests that it is inherently difficult to separate income (dividends) from capital
growth and therefore splitting the actual (total) return on assets between realised and unrealised

transactions does not provide useful information to users of financial statements.

515  For this reason it is concluded that the total actual return on assets held to fund pension
liabilities should be reported in financial statements.

5.16  Having determined that the actual return should be reported, the next question to consider is
where it should be presented. There is an economic relationship between the actual return on assets and
the financing costs (interest on unwinding the pension liability). That is, investment strategies are
designed to match the cash flows required to settle pension liabilities and therefore the return on
investments and the unwinding of the pension liability should be presented together in the same section,

that is, within financing.

517  Separate presentation of the return on assets within the financing section also appears to be
consistent with the direction that Phase B of the IASB/FASB project on financial statements presentation is

taking.

518  One further issue that needs to be considered is that of negative returns on assets held to fund
pension liabilities. Where the fair value of the assets fall from one accounting period to the next then it
would seem sensible to include the negative returns either as part of financing costs or part of financing

income as a negative amount.

519  Itis concluded that the actual return on assets held to fund pension liabilities should be

presented separately as financing income in the statement of comprehensive income.
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6 Change in the rate of discount

6.1 It has now been argued that both the interest cost on liabilities and the total return on assets
should be reported as financing items. A further question is how changes arising from the movement in
interest rates should be presented (at present changes in the interest rate are part of actuarial gains and
losses). It may be noted that Asset Liability Management (ALM) is a widely used technique designed to
reduce risk in investment portfolios for pension plans. ALM aims to build a portfolio of assets (using
financial instruments of varying degrees of sophistication) — that more closely replicate the characteristics
of the pension plan payment profile. The aim is to immunise liabilities against changes in the interest

rate.

6.2 Where possible, using ALM techniques, price changes in the assets would have an equivalent
change in the valuation of liabilities. The total financing effect should then be zero. This would suggest
that valuation changes due to interest rates should be shown in the same category as interest expense
arising on unwinding of the pension liability and the actual return on assets and not part of actuarial

gains and losses.

6.3 It is noted above that the interest expense represents the time value of money, arising from the
liabilities being one year closer to payment. A change in the discount rate also represent a change in the

time value for money and hence should be included as part of the financing costs.

6.4 In the light of the above, it is concluded that changes in the interest rate should be presented as
part of financing costs.

7 Actuarial gains and losses

7.1 Current accounting standards use the term “actuarial gains and losses’ to refer to changes arising
from the the remeasurement of the pension deficit or surplus at the end of one accounting date in

comparison to a previous accounting date, other than those that are separately identified. They include:

. changes in the assumptions from one period to the next, for example staff turnover rates, early

retirement rates or mortality rates;

. differences between the assumptions used in measuring the scheme liabilities and actual

experience during the period (‘experience differences’);

. the difference between the expected and the actual return on investments; and
. the effect of changes in the discount rate.
7.2 It has been concluded above that the actual return on investments should be reported in financial

statements and that the change in the discount rate used for liabilities should be reported as financing.
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Under that view, these items would no longer fall within ‘actuarial gains and losses” and only changes in

assumptions and experience differences would remain.

7.3 It will be recalled that it was concluded in Chapter 4 that the balance sheet position should reflect
the actual surplus or deficit in the pension plan, and that there is no place for deferred recognition.
Therefore the remaining task is to consider where actuarial gains and losses should be presented in the

statement of comprehensive income.

7.4 A view that has been considered is whether actuarial gains and losses should be classified into
two categories; actuarial gains and losses management may be considered to control (for example staff
turnover rates, wage rates) in contrast to actuarial gains and losses that were considered to arise from
external events (for example, changes in the rate of inflation). Those that support dividing actuarial gains
and losses in this way consider that such a distinction could reduce reported volatility in profit or loss if
items that were deemed to be outside managements’ control were presented within other comprehensive

income. This would, they believe, provide a better insight into management’s control of resources.

7.5 Those that do not support this view consider management have to manage resources taking into
consideration external factors. As a consequence any “splitting” is arbitrary and does not represent a
realistic portrayal of the management of economic resources whether relating to internal or external

factors.

7.6 It is concluded that actuarial gains and losses should not be split between those relating to

internal and external factors as any such splitting is arbitrary.

7.7 Current accounting standards currently permit or require actuarial gains or losses to be
recognised outside of profit or loss. IAS 19 permits an approach under which they are reported in the
statement of other comprehensive income; SFAS 158 requires them to be reported as ‘other
comprehensive income” and similarly the UK standard, FRS 17, requires actuarial gains and losses to be

reported in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.

7.8 The rationale for items to be reported either as part of profit or loss or excluded from profit or loss
is not clearly defined in accounting literature. The IASB notes in the basis for conclusions for IAS 1
(paragraph BC 51) that:

The Framework does not define profit or loss, nor does it provide criteria for distinguishing the characteristics of

items that should be included in profit or loss from those items that should be excluded from profit or loss.

7.9 Some would favour an approach under which actuarial gains and losses were initially reported in
other comprehensive income, and then ‘recycled” into profit or loss in a later accounting period. This
seems to be based on the view that actuarial gains and losses are part of the costs of employing staff and

therefore need to be recognised as part of profit or loss at some point.

179



The financial reporting of pensions

7.10  The recycling of gains and losses would also require a methodology for recycling to be specified.
Under the deferral mechanisms discussed in Chapter 4 for recognition of the net asset or liability relating
to the pension liabilities the asset or liability is generally recognised over the remaining service life of
employees. Whilst it would be possible to prescribe such a rule for recycling, it is difficult to identify a

conceptual justification for it.

711  Itis beyond the scope of this paper to consider whether there could be a rationale for
distinguishing items that are included in profit and loss from those that are reported in other
comprehensive income. However, it may be noted that the IASB and FASB have expressed a tentative
view that all current period changes in assets and liabilities should be presented in one of the functional
categories in the statement of comprehensive income, thereby rendering ‘other comprehensive income’

and the mechanism of recycling unnecessary. The IASB and FASB recognise this is a long-term goal.

712 Asnoted above, under the proposals in this paper, actuarial gains and losses would represent
only changes in assumptions and experience differences—and it is difficult, if not impossible, to
distinguish between these two classes, both of which may fairly be described as changes in estimates. It
is difficult to justify reporting such changes in estimates other than as part of profit or loss, immediately
they arise. This has the following advantages:

(1) the financial statements are easy to understand; and
(ii) the treatment is consistent with the treatment of changes in the estimates of other provisions.

7.13  Although this would introduce a significant degree of volatility into the profit and loss account
this is not necessarily a fatal objection, provided the reported volatility is representative of economic

events of the period and their impact on the entity.

714  Itis concluded that, as actuarial gains and losses are essentially changes in the estimate of the
liability for pensions from one accounting period to the next, there is no justification to present them
other than as part of profit or loss.

7.15  Having formed the view that actuarial gains and losses should be recognised immediately they
are incurred as part of profit or loss, the next issue is how they should be presented. IAS 8 ‘Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” addresses changes in estimates, and notes that as a
result of uncertainty inherent in business activities, many items in financial statements cannot be
measured with precision but can only be estimated (paragraph 32). A revision in an accounting estimate

does not relate to a prior period (paragraph 34).

7.16  Arevision to an estimate is often recognised in the same position in the statement of
comprehensive income as the original estimate is recognised, although this is not a specific requirement of
IFRS. Reporting actuarial gains and losses in the same line items as previous estimates would therefore

be consistent with practice for other changes in estimates.
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7.17  However, it might often be difficult to assess how much of an actuarial gain or loss relates, for
example, to service cost and how much to interest. Given this difficulty, and the inherent uncertainty in
measuring pension liabilities, separate presentation seems warranted. Another advantage of separate
presentation is that it permits a clear distinction to be made between this year’s performance and changes
arising from re-measurement of prior year items. This should be of assistance to those who wish to assess

“sustainable earnings”, or otherwise form a view on the prospects for future income.

7.18  Itis also necessary to consider whether the changes should be presented within or outside
operating income. Actuarial gains and losses are simply revisions to estimates. They differ from other
items that might be regarded as operating items in that they do not represent transactions of the period.
Nor does the amount of actuarial gains and losses in one period have any clear relationship to the amount
in future periods, so the predictive value of actuarial gains and losses is different from many other items

that might be regarded as operating.

7.19 It therefore seems likely that including actuarial gains and losses with operating income would

create confusion in and therefore it seems better to exclude them from operating income.

720  Itis concluded that actuarial gains and losses should be presented as a separate line item as
part of profit or loss outside of operating activities.

8 Summary

8.1 This Chapter considers how changes in the pension liabilities and in the assets held to fund those
liabilities should be reported in the financial performance statement. It does not seek to address all the
questions that are currently being debated in the context of financial statement presentation (such as
whether measures of earnings should be presented), but builds on the requirements of IAS 1 (revised
September 2007) ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, and notes that current work by the IASB and
FASB is considering a distinction between business and financing activities. It assumes that in the future

statements of financial performance will provide separate disclosure of the following:

Operating activities;

Financing; and

Other financial performance

(Section 2)

8.2 The paper considers the view that changes in liabilities and/or assets for a period should not be
disaggregated, but favours an approach under which different components of the expense are presented

separately (even where a ‘net’ asset or liability is reported in the balance sheet), as different components

seem to have different drivers and predictive value. (Section 3)
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8.3 The paper proposes that the changes in assets and liabilities should be presented as follows:
Service cost—within operating activities (Paragraphs 4.2-4.8)

Finance cost of pensions —within financing (Paragraphs 4.9-4.14)

Effect of change in the discount rate—within financing (Section 6)

Actual return on assets—within financing (Section 5)

Actuarial gains and losses—in the profit and loss account, within other financial performance. (Section 7)
8.4 A notable difference from the requirements of current accounting standards is the proposal that
the financial statements should report the actual return on assets, rather than the expected return.
However, as users find the expected return on assets useful, it is proposed that it should be disclosed in a
note to the financial statements. (Section 5)

8.5 ‘Actuarial gains and losses” would differ from that arising under present accounting standards

because they would not include the effect of changes in the discount rate, nor the difference between the

expected and actual return on assets. (Paragraphs 7.1-7.2)
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APPENDIX A

An alternative presentation model for interest expense and expected return on
assets

Al This Chapter has expressed the view that the following items should be reported within the

financing section of the income statement:

. The actual return on assets
J Interest cost
o The effect of changes in the discount rate.

In part, this conclusion was justified by the close economic relationship between these items.

A2 Some do not support this conclusion because, although they agree that there is an important
economic relationship between the interest cost and the income on plan assets, they consider the effect

would be to introduce undue volatility into the reported profit or loss.

A3 They would favour an alternative presentation model under which all of these items would be
presented outside of the profit and loss account. They would agree that this presentation would be
inconsistent with IAS 1 and the general framework for other IFRSs. However, supporters of this
approach give more weight to the usefulness of information presented in the financial statements than to

a conceptually pure approach.

A4 As this Chapter of the discussion paper has been based on IAS 1 as a framework for its proposals

on presentation, this approach has not been considered further.
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Chapter 9: Disclosures in the employer's financial statements

1 Introduction

1.1 Earlier Chapters of this discussion paper have noted that some of the concerns (and
alternative views) highlighted could be addressed through improved disclosures. In this Chapter
we will review these areas and outline disclosures that provide an insight into the amounts
reported in the financial statements and the risks and rewards that arise from the provision of

pension benefits.

1.2 In developing disclosure proposals in this Chapter for financial statements only a limited
distinction has been made between disclosures to be provided in the financial statements
themselves and disclosures that might be provided outside the financial statements as part of a
management commentary. The reason for this is because at the time of writing no international
guidance exists regarding information to be presented as part of a management commentary.
Although in October 2005 the IASB issued a discussion paper titled ‘"Management Commentary”’ the
IASB’s active agenda does not specify when the proposals in the discussion paper might be

developed.

1.3 As this Chapter does not distinguish in detail between disclosures provided in the
financial statements themselves and those provided in a management commentary the term
‘financial statements” should be taken as including the management commentary, unless the

context requires otherwise.

1.4 It is, however, recognised that some of the disclosures proposed might usefully be
provided as part of the management commentary, including alternative measures of the liability to
pay benefits and some disclosures regarding risks and rewards that management believes may

affect the entity’s long-term value.

1.5 In developing disclosures for pensions it was initially decided to identify what the

objectives for disclosures should be and then from this, identify the disclosures that support these

objectives.
2 Objectives for disclosure
2.1 To identify the objectives that arise from the provision of pension benefits it would seem

the first step is to identify who the users of financial statements are then to try and assess their

needs. By considering users” needs it should be possible to develop clear disclosure objectives.
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22 A user of the financial statements may review the disclosures relating to pensions for
different reasons, for example a beneficiary of a pension plan (who may also be an existing
employee) may read financial statements in an attempt to understand the strength of the
employer’s covenant towards the plan; whereas an investor or potential investor may read the
disclosures relating to pensions to gain an understanding of how an entity’s obligations towards

the plan affect the resources available to the entity (i.e. future cash flow requirements of the plan).

2.3 The IASB Framework! states that:

The users of financial statements include present and potential investors, employees, suppliers and
other trade creditors, customers, governments and their agencies and the public. They use financial
statements in order to satisfy some of their different needs for information.

While all of the information needs of these users cannot be met by financial statements, there are
needs which are common to all users. As investors are providers of risk capital to the entity, the
provision of financial statements that meet their needs will also meet most of the needs of other users
that financial statements can satisfy.

2.4 The IASB’s framework applies to general purpose financial statements and notes that by
focusing on the needs of investors the needs of other users can be satisfied. In attempting to
identify the objectives for disclosures for pensions it is clear that the needs of users of financial
statements are wide and varied. It is therefore necessary to focus disclosures on the needs of
investors and potential investors, as noted in the IASB framework. Without this focus there is the
potential to identify disclosure requirements that are unfocused and cumbersome and which
simultaneously fail to provide an understanding of the risks and rewards arising from the

provision of pension benefits.

2.5 Further, in identifying objectives for disclosures, the assumed level of knowledge a user of
the financial statements is considered to hold, must also be taken into consideration. The IASB

Framework notes:

An essential quality of the information provided in financial statements is that it is readily
understandable by users. For this purpose, users are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of
business and economic activities and accounting and a willingness to study the information with

reasonable diligence.(paragraph 25)

2.6 Having determined that disclosures should focus on the needs of investors and that users
(investors) are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of business the next step is to determine
objectives that support investors needs. One theme that was repeated by the project’s advisory

groups was a concern regarding the volume of disclosures provided in existing financial statements

Paragraphs 9 and 10.
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regarding the provision of pension benefits. Some noted that the volume of disclosures provided in
relation to pension obligations was disproportionate compared to other areas in the financial
statements. Others considered that often the volume of disclosures was not proportionate to the

information content provided by the disclosures.

2.7 Taking these views into consideration it was decided that the principal objective for
disclosures should be to explain the risks and rewards arising from the provision of pension
benefits, having regard to the materiality of the amounts involved. In this way an entity would
only be required to provide disclosures that were material to its position, rather than provide an
exhaustive list of disclosures and hence disclosures that did not provide relevant information to a

user.

2.8 Having determined the principal objective, consideration was given to more detailed
objectives that would assist in identifying disclosure requirements. In 2006 the ASB undertook a
review of the disclosure requirements required for defined benefit pension schemes. The review
was instigated following feedback from users of financial statements highlighting a concern that
financial statements did not include sufficient information to allow users of the financial statements
to obtain a clear view of the risks and rewards arising from liabilities to pay pension benefits and
the assets held to fund those liabilities.

29 The work undertaken by the ASB in 2006 ran simultaneously with the research work being
undertaken in developing this discussion paper. The ASB therefore requested the assistance of the
project advisory panel and working group to support its work in reviewing the disclosure
requirements for defined benefit schemes. In view of this review it was considered that the

objectives determined here should assist in developing disclosure objectives for this discussion

paper.

2.10 In January 2007 the ASB issued a non-mandatory reporting statement which took into
consideration comments received on a draft reporting statement following a period of consultation.

The reporting statement set out the following objectives for disclosure:

(a) the financial statements contain adequate disclosure of the cost of providing retirement benefits and

the related gains, losses, assets and liabilities;

(b) that the users of financial statements can obtain a clear view of the risks and rewards arising; and
(c) the funding obligations the entity has in relation to liabilities of defined benefit schemes are clearly
identified.
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211 It might be noted that objectives (b) and (c) above were developed to respond to the users

of financial statements, who in January 2006 wrote to the Financial Times (FT) noting:

... all too often the disclosures in relation to pension liabilities are not sufficient to allow investors to
assess the impact of changes ...

The letter highlighted the concerns of analysts regarding mortality assumptions and the sensitivity
of assumptions (particularly the discount rate).

212 Having reviewed the reporting statement it was considered that the objectives set out in
the statement did provide a basis for developing disclosures in this discussion paper. The
objectives need, however, to be amended to take into consideration the focus of this discussion
paper, which is to consider the assets and liabilities that arise from the employer’s promise to
provide pension benefits. This is in contrast to previous accounting standards that categorised

pensions by types of arrangements.
2.13 In developing this discussion paper the objectives for disclosure are considered to be:

Disclosures should provide information that explains the risks and rewards arising
from the provision of pension benefits, having regard to the materiality of the amounts

involved, such that:

(a) financial statements contain adequate disclosure of the cost of providing pension
benefits and any related gains, losses, assets and liabilities;

(b) users of financial statements are able to obtain a clear view of the risks and rewards
arising from liabilities to pay pension benefits and the assets held to fund those
benefits; and

(c) the funding obligations of the entity, in relation to liabilities to pay pension benefits,
are clearly identified.

2.14 The objectives set out below have been amended to reflect the focus of this discussion
paper, which does not draw a distinction between defined benefit and defined contribution
arrangements. Where an entity operates a pension arrangement similar to a defined contribution
arrangement, a number of the disclosures proposed in this Chapter would not be applicable. In

this instance, disclosure would not be made.
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3 The financial statements contain adequate disclosure of the cost of
providing pension benefits and any related gains, losses, assets and
liabilities

3.1 The aim of this objective is to provide a user of financial statements with information about
the amounts presented in the financial statements and how these amounts relate to each other. It

might be useful to consider the amounts presented in the financial statements in the following

categories:

. the cost of providing pension benefits;

. assets and liabilities relating to pension benefits; and

o disclosures regarding the measurement of liabilities to pay pension benefits.

Cost of providing pension benefits

3.2 The preliminary view formed in Chapter 8 ‘Presentation in financial statements’ is that
changes in assets and liabilities for pensions should be presented in the line item to which they
relate in the statement of comprehensive income (separate presentation). In forming this
preliminary view two views were explored; the first view was that pension cost should be a single
item in the statement of comprehensive income with footnote disclosure. The second view was that
the pension cost arises from the changes in the underlying assets and liabilities for pensions which
are themselves affected by different drivers. Those that support separate presentation consider that
the drivers of the pension cost can be separated and managed independently from each other and
hence should be presented as part of the line item in the statement of comprehensive income to

which the variable relates.

3.3 It would seem, regardless of the view adopted, there is a need to reconcile the cost in the
statement of comprehensive income to the movement in the assets and liabilities; analysing
separately the components of pension costs and thereby providing greater information about the

“drivers” which affect the cost of providing pensions.
Assets and liabilities relating to pension benefits

34 Chapter 3 of this discussion paper discusses the identification of assets and liabilities
including gross or net presentation of pension assets and liabilities. The different scenarios
considered highlight that a user of financial statements needs to understand the amounts presented
in the financial statements (i.e. the assets and liabilities) and how the movement in related assets

and liabilities over the reporting period has affected the reporting entity.

3.5 IAS 19 requires a reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of the defined benefit
obligation showing separately, if applicable, the effects during the period attributable to each of the
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elements” that give rise to the movement in the assets or liabilities. There seems little debate that
reconciliation is required of the opening and closing position for liabilities to pay pension benefits
and (if applicable) the assets held to fund these benefits showing separately changes in the drivers
that affect the assets and liabilities.

Disclosures regarding the measurement of liabilities to pay pension benefits

3.6 As noted earlier analysts have previously highlighted a concern regarding the disclosures
in relation to pension liabilities. Analysts raised a concern that disclosures were not sufficient to
allow investors to assess the affect of changes in the assumptions that underlie the measurement of

pension liabilities. We might explore this concern by reviewing three areas regarding pension

liabilities:
o assumptions used to measure liabilities (paras 3.7 to 3.11 below);
. sensitivity of the principal assumptions used to measure liabilities (paras 3.12 to 3.17

below); and

. alternative methods of measuring pension liabilities (paras 3.18 to 3.31 below).

Assumptions used to measure liabilities

3.7 There seems little question that a user of the financial statements needs to understand the
principal assumptions used to measure liabilities, but perhaps the more important question is
whether any future financial reporting standard should specify the format for presentation of those

assumptions and, specifically, how to disclose mortality assumptions.

3.8 Mortality rates have become an area on increasing interest, this was an area of particular
concern noted by UK analysts. These users considered that greater information should be provided
about increases in life expectancy and how this affected pension liabilities.

3.9 The increased focus on mortality rates arises from a number of factors, including:

(i) although many plans are closed to new entrants, plans remain exposed to reducing

mortality rates;

Chapter 8 discusses the elements that give rise to the movement in pension assets and
liabilities.
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(if) recent experience confirms that mortality rates for the retired population in the UK have

continued to fall rapidly, with no real signs of slowing?; and

(iii) studies have suggested that mortality assumptions in the EU vary considerably*.

3.10 The format for disclosure of the mortality assumptions is particularly important. Many
entities use standard mortality tables; however disclosure of these tables provides only the source
for the assumption, not the assumption itself. A more informative disclosure is the average number

of years post retirement pensions are expected to be paid to individuals.

3.11 In addition to the disclosure of the assumptions, some consider that it is important that the
disclosures set out in the financial statements provide not only details of the assumptions but an

explanation of why assumptions have changed from previous periods.

Sensitivity of the principal assumptions used to measure liabilities

3.12 As noted previously, concern has been expressed by analysts regarding the sensitivity of
liabilities to movements in the underlying assumptions. In developing its non-mandatory
reporting statement the ASB considered whether to recommend the disclosure of a sensitivity
analysis. Although the ASB considered the views of some commentators, that additional cost may
outweigh the benefits of the disclosure, they also took into consideration the inherent uncertainties
that underlie the assumptions and considered that such information would provide a useful
assessment of the uncertainties that underlie the assumptions. The reporting statement therefore

recommends:

The financial statements should disclose a sensitivity analysis for the principal assumptions used to measure
the scheme liabilities, showing how the measurement of scheme liabilities would have been affected by changes
in the relevant assumptions that were reasonably possible at the balance sheet date.

3.13 In contrast IAS 19 paragraph 120A(p) requires:
... the amounts for the current annual period and previous four annual periods of:

(i) the present value of the defined benefit obligation, the fair value of the plan assets and the surplus or
deficit in the plan; and

(ii) the experience adjustment arising on:

(A) the plans liabilities expressed either as (1) an amount or (2) a percentage of the plan liabilities at the

balance sheet date and

The Actuarial Profession letter to actuaries holding Life Actuary certificates and
Scheme Actuary certificates - 10 July 2007.

Cass Business School - Mortality Assumptions used in the calculation of Company
Pension Liabilities in the EU
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(B) the plan assets expressed either as (1) an amount or (2) a percentage of the plan assets as the balance
sheet date.

3.14 It is noted in the Basis for Conclusion to IAS 19 that the IASB believes that information
about the trends of a plan is important so that users have a view of the plan over time not just at the
balance sheet date. Information about trends does not, however, provide information about how
liabilities to pay pension benefits are affected by changes in the assumptions used to measure the

liability — rather it provides information about the accuracy of the assumptions used.

3.15 In relation to providing sensitivity information when the FASB issued SFAS 132
“Employers Disclosures about Pensions and other Post retirement Benefits” it noted in the Basis of
Conclusions® that it was concerned that providing sensitivity information for individual
assumptions, while holding all other assumptions constant, may be misunderstood and may not

adequately take into account the interdependency of certain assumptions.

3.16 In March 2007 the Association of British Insurers (ABI) published a research paper
‘Understanding Company Deficits’. In this paper the ABI noted that the FRS 17 deficit is essentially
a static measure of a scheme’s position. The arguments set out in the paper suggested that analysts
and shareholders want improvements in the degree of FRS 17 disclosure particularly on pension
solvency positions. In its paper the ABI noted that publishing the assumptions used to calculate the
FRS 17 deficits and explaining how sensitive these deficits are to changes in them is a step in the

right direction, but not a complete solution to the problem.

3.17 Although previous accounting standards had rejected providing sensitivity information
regarding the measurement of liabilities to changes in assumptions, it seems that more recent
thinking would support the disclosure of such information. It might be noted that IFRS 7 ‘Financial
Instruments Disclosures’ requires disclosures that enable users to evaluate the significance of
financial instruments for the entity’s financial position and performance and the nature and extent
of risks arising from financial instruments. As such, it requires a sensitivity analysis for the market
risks an entity is exposed to. This might suggest users of financial statements have developed their

understanding of the information provided by sensitivity analysis.

Alternative methods of measuring pension liabilities.

3.18 In Chapter 5 of this discussion paper ‘Measurement of liabilities to pay benefits” the
candidate bases for measuring liabilities are discussed. After consideration of the alternative bases
for measuring liabilities, a current settlement amount is preferred. Regulatory measures are
considered as an alternative to ‘running off” the liability or ‘buying out’ the benefits with a suitable
insurance entity but rejected as it is considered that regulatory measures should not replace

measures derived from general accounting principles.

® Paragraph A42 of SFAS 132 (revised 2003).
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3.19 In addition to the discussion in Chapter 5 it is also noted in Chapter 2 that, whether or not
the effect of future salary increases is included as part of the liability to pay pension benefits, it is
necessary to disclose the amount of the liability with and without salary increases as both measures

provide relevant information about present and expected future obligations.

3.20 There are clearly alternative measures for the liability to pay pension benefits, the question
that arises is whether alternative measures, in addition to the measurement required by the

financial reporting standard itself, should be disclosed.

3.21 Some are of the view that disclosing alternative estimates of the liability to pay pension
benefits allows users of financial statements to gain a better understanding of the “variability” of
the liability to pay pension benefits and hence such disclosure responds to the ABI comment that

FRS 17 (or its equivalent) is a static measure.

3.22 Those that are of this view consider the disclosure provides useful information. They
consider, for example, a regulatory measure of pension liabilities, although rejected for use in the
financial statements themselves, provides a user of the financial statements with an understanding
of the regulatory funding requirements an entity has. Additionally disclosure of a regulatory
amount might provide a member of a pension plan with information relevant to an assessment of

the security of their pension arrangement.

3.23 Similarly others support the disclosure of measurement of the liability with and without
the effect of future salary increases. Disclosure of the accrued benefit obligation (ABO) is required
by SFAS 132°. Those that support disclosure of the ABO consider it provides a solvency estimate of
the pension liability at the balance sheet date where the measure in the financial statements

themselves is on a projected benefits basis.

3.24 Another disclosure recommended by the ASB in its non-mandatory reporting statement is
that of the buy-out amount. Some consider that the buy-out amount is a valuable disclosure as it
provides a 'worst case' view of the accrued liability and is based on market conditions. In the UK
this amount is made available to members of pension plans through annual funding statements.
The ASB took into consideration the differing views regarding disclosure of this amount but
decided, ultimately, that they could find no justification that information made available to
members of defined benefit schemes and/ or trustees (manager of plans) should not be made
available to investors.

3.25 Others do not support the disclosure of alternative measures for the liability to pay future
pension benefits. They consider that alternative measures do not inform users but create confusion
and give rise to incorrect decisions being made about pension liabilities. In particular many oppose
disclosure of the liability based on the buy-out amount arguing it causes confusion about future

funding requirements and is not consistent with the assumption regarding going concern.

o SFAS 132 paragraph 5(e).
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3.26 Those that do not support disclosure of alternative measures for the liability consider that
the provision of sensitivity information provides useful information regarding alternative measures

of the liability and agree that alternative measures may confuse rather than inform users.

3.27 Finally others that do not support disclosure of alternative measures of the liability to pay
pensions argue that financial statements should contain disclosures about the amounts presented in
the financial statements themselves rather than alternative measures which are not included in the
financial statements. They consider that the appropriate place for such disclosures is in the

management commentary.

3.28 A further problem with recommending that alternative measures of the pension liability
are disclosed is that of costs and benefits. When the ASB recommended disclosure of the buy-out
amount in its reporting statement, it took into consideration the fact that this information was
already available to UK entities. Hence disclosure of this measure would not cause significant cost

to be incurred.

3.29 Where alternative measures are required to be disclosed then the measure needs to be
clearly defined either in the financial statements or prescribed by the financial reporting statement
itself — otherwise information between entities may not be comparable and thereby create

confusion.

3.30 There are clearly differing views regarding the disclosure of alternative measures for
pension liabilities. As noted above one view is that the financial statements should only contain
disclosures about the amounts contained in the financial statements themselves. A discussion about
alternative measures (including regulatory or other amounts) and how management monitor and
utilise the information provided from alternative measures should be provided in the management
commentary. This approach would respond to the view that there is no justification for not
disclosing amounts that are already made available to members of pension plans and/or trustees

and management of the entity and hence equity holders are disadvantaged compared to others.
3.31 The above analysis suggests that;

(i) alternative measures may provide useful information to the users of financial statements
and where available, alternative measures should be disclosed (particular emphasis was
placed on disclosure of the ABO as an alternative to the PBO where the PBO was used to

measure pension liabilities);

(ii) however the cost of providing these estimates must be balanced with benefit provided by

the information; and

(iii) where alternative estimates are available they could be discussed in the management

commentary, rather than the financial statements themselves.
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3.32 Set out in appendix to this Chapter is a list of proposed disclosures. This includes
reconciliation of the amounts presented in the financial statements, details of the assumptions
that underlie the measurement of liabilities to pay pension benefits, a sensitivity analysis
showing the affect of changes in the assumptions and alternative measures (in the management

commentary) where available.

4 Users of financial statements can obtain a clear view of the risks
and rewards arising from liabilities to pay pension benefits and the assets
held to fund those benefits

Understanding the relationship with the entity

4.1 In Chapters 2 and 3 of this discussion paper the nature of liabilities and types of pension
arrangements are considered. These Chapters highlight the many different types of arrangements
that arise from the provision of pensions benefits. To evaluate the effect these arrangements may
have on the reporting entity, a user of the financial statements needs to understand the nature of an

entity’s arrangements. At present IAS 19 provides that:

An entity shall disclose information that enables users of financial statements to evaluate the nature of its
defined benefit plans and the financial effects of changes in those plans during the period.

4.2 In addition to discussing the nature of arrangements, Chapter 3 also highlights the
relationship and, particularly that the division of powers between the reporting entity and the
pension plan are crucial in determining who has control of the pension plan. The nature of the
relationship between the reporting entity and the trustees/ (managers) of a plan will be an indicator
used to determine whether an entity controls the plan and therefore whether the plan is

consolidated in the financial statements.

4.3 The analysis in Chapter 3 suggests, in addition to understanding the nature of defined
benefit plans, a user also needs to understand the relationship between the entity and the plan.
Providing greater information about the relationship between an entity and a pension plan would
allow users to understand the extent to which an entity is able to influence arrangements between
itself and the plan. It would also permit a user of the financial statements to evaluate the role of
managers/trustees of pension plans. The role and level of independence attributed to
managers/trustees of pension plans can vary between individual plans and between plans in

different legal jurisdictions.

4.4 The ASB proposed in its draft reporting statement improved disclosures in this area —
conscious of the importance of the independent role of trustees particularly in the UK. A number
of respondents to the draft reporting statement were concerned that the proposals set out in the
draft reporting statement would lead to cumbersome and/or boilerplate disclosures. However,
some respondents agreed that there was a need to improve disclosures regarding the relationship

between and entity and the plan but considered that the disclosures provided in financial
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statements should focus on unusual or ‘out-of-the ordinary” powers of, or constraints on,

trustees/managers of plans.

4.5 The respondents to the draft reporting statement appeared to be focusing on the need for
pension disclosures to provide information regarding risks and rewards that arise from
arrangements to provide pension benefits. Many entities have risk management processes that aim
to provide information to an entity’s management about the most significant risks and how they
are being managed. It was envisaged that enterprise risk management systems could provide the

information required for the disclosures regarding the risk and rewards for pension liabilities.

4.6 It would therefore seem in understanding the risks and rewards that arise from the
pension liabilities and the assets held to fund those liabilities, the first stage is to understand the
nature of those assets and liabilities, which includes understanding the arrangements where the
assets and liabilities are held in a separate plan. In addition it is also necessary to understand the
relationship between the trustees/managers of the pension plan and that of the entity. In such
circumstances entities that have risk management processes may already be monitoring these risk

and rewards.
Nature of the liability

4.7 In section 3 above, proposed disclosure requirements have been set out regarding
measurement of the pension liability. It might be argued that this information provides details of
possible estimation errors in the measurement of the liability rather than an understanding of the
pension liability itself. Providing a user of the financial statements with an understanding of the
nature of the pension liability arguably includes providing information regarding, to whom
pension benefits are or will be paid. The information that might be provided includes membership
details of the plan, categorised between active employees; deferred members (that is former
employees) and pensioners. In providing this information a user of financial statements is able to
gain a better understanding of the nature of the pension liability and enhanced predictions about

the future development of the pension liability.

4.8 In providing information about the nature of the liability one area that needs to be
considered is future cash flows of the plan itself. The ABI, in its research paper, suggested financial
statements should provide information about the projected cash flows relating to the pension
liability. It noted:

While single point estimates of pension deficits provided by FRS 17 is useful, there is no question that looking
at the underlying cash flow projections may also help understand the dynamic of DB plans.

4.9 The ABI noted that by looking at the stream of projected cash flows one had the potential
to highlight shrinking or widening funding gaps. In this way the ABI were making reference to the

solvency of the pension plan.
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4.10 The ASB’s reporting statement recommends the projected cash flows be disclosed. In
making the recommendation to include the cash flows of the pension plan, the ASB took into
consideration the view expressed by some respondents to the draft reporting statement that the
cash flows were those of the pension plan and not those of the reporting entity and disclosures of
another entity’s cash flows was inappropriate. The ASB ultimately decided that understanding the
cash flows of the plan was important as it permitted the user of the financial statements to
understand the profile of cash flows including peak cash flows and hence the effect these would

have on the resources available to the entity.

4.11 It should be noted that providing the information about how the liabilities of the pension
plan are anticipated to be payable is quite separate from providing information about the entity’s
own funding obligations. These are both important areas to the users of financial statements —
however the information about the liabilities is providing a user of the financial statements with
information about risks arising from the nature of the liability whereas providing information
about the entity’s funding obligations is addressing the economic resources the entity has available.
It is considered that both disclosures are important and provide relevant information to the user of

financial statements.
Assets held to fund pension liabilities

4.12 Having considered disclosures regarding the liabilities to pay pension benefits the next
area to consider is the risks and rewards arising from assets that are held to fund pension liabilities.

At present IAS 19 requires the following disclosures:

for each major category of plan assets, which shall include, but is not limited to, equity instruments, debt
instruments, property, and all other assets, the percentage or amount that each major category constitutes of
the fair value of the total plan assets.

413 In addition IAS 19 requires the amounts included in the fair value of the plan assets for (i)
each category of the entity’s own financial instruments; and (ii) any property occupied by, or other

assets used by, the entity.

4.14 The disclosure objective being considered in this section aims to provide information about
the risks and rewards arising from the assets held to fund pension liabilities. The disclosure
requirements of IAS 19 provides information only regarding the nature of assets held and does not
extend to providing information regarding the risks and rewards of those assets. In recent times
the investment strategies and assets held to facilitate these strategies have grown in complexity.
There has, for example, been a growth in “Liability Driven Investment” approaches which seek to
match liabilities to pay pension benefits with assets using more complex financial instruments. The
nature of these investments require greater information than that provided by the existing
requirements of IAS 19 (or FRS 17).
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4.15 The disclosures that are proposed in this area have been adapted from IFRS 7 ‘Financial
Instruments: Disclosures’. One of the objectives of IFRS 7 is to enable users to evaluate the nature
and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the entity is exposed. As users of
financial statements will be familiar with the disclosure requirements of IFRS 7 rather than develop
new disclosures it is considered the requirements of IFRS 7 could be adapted. In addition it is
considered that disclosures in this area should not be restricted to financial assets but include all
financial instruments held in relation to pension liabilities. The recommended disclosures, adapted
from IFRS 7, are:

For each type of risk arising from financial instruments held to fund pension liabilities, an entity should
disclose:

a. the exposure to risk and how they arise;

b. the objectives, policies and processes undertaken by the pension plan or the entity for managing the

risk and the methods used to measure the risk; and

C. any changes in (a) and (b) from the previous period.

4.16 Finally in considering the risks and rewards arsing from assets held to fund pension
liabilities it is noted in Chapter 6 ‘Measurement of assets held to pay benefits’ that:

The role of investment strategy in meeting obligations to pay benefits requires explanation (rather than
recognition) in financial statements.

417 The investment strategy for assets held to fund pension liabilities will affect the future
contributions required by the reporting entity. The reporting entity will need to fund future
pension liabilities that cannot be met from the returns on assets themselves. It was noted in
Chapter 8 that users of financial statements use the expected return on assets to predict future

investment returns and thereby future funding requirements on entity has towards the plan.

4.18 It might also be noted that SFAS 132(R) ‘Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other
Post Retirement Benefits’ requires a narrative description of investment policies and strategies
including target allocation percentages or range of percentages for each major category of plan

assets.

4.19 It would therefore seem that an entity needs to provide an explanation of the investment
strategy (including the expected return on assets) in addition to information about the assets held

and the risks arising from the assets held.

4.20 As noted a list of suggested disclosures in provided in Appendix to this Chapter. The
suggestions include information regarding the nature of the plan and its relationship with the
entity; information about the plan’s expected cash flows; greater information about the nature of

assets held by the plan and a description of investment strategies.
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5 The funding obligations an entity has in relation to liabilities to pay
pension benefits are clearly identified.

Inter-relationship between assets held of fund liabilities and funding obligations

5.1 It is noted in Chapter 6 (paragraph 2.4) that:

Some commentators have been concerned that the present accounting model fails to reflect how liabilities to
pay benefits are expected to be met out of future cash flows from assets and contributions from employers and
employees.

52 What appears to be being addressed here is the solvency of the scheme. The mere
existence of a deficit in the scheme does not necessarily imply that a scheme is insolvent and will
not be able to pay pension obligations as they fall due. It would therefore seem that disclosure is
required to link the investment strategy and the liabilities to pay pensions. It is this “gap” (the gap

between liabilities and investment returns) that an entity will need to fund via contributions.

5.3 It would therefore seem that disclosure is required in the financial statements that links
together information about the liabilities of the scheme with the assets held to fund those liabilities.
This information is likely to be presented in a narrative format that explains how the entity plans to

fund its obligations in contrast to information disclosed regarding the pension liabilities.

Funding obligations

5.4 In relation to the entity’s funding obligations IAS 19 requires an entity to disclose the
employer’s best estimate, as soon as it can reasonably be determined, of contributions expected to
be paid to the plan during the annual period beginning after the balance sheet date. In view of the
long term nature of pension liabilities this would appear to provide limited information to a user of

financial statements.

5.5 When the ASB considered the disclosure requirements for funding obligations they took
into consideration the funding regime brought about by the Pension Act 2004. The 2004 Act was
the UK response to the EU regulation on pensions and thereby similar provisions can be found
across Europe. In its reporting statement the ASB recommended that the following information

with regard to funding obligations, should be disclosed in financial statements:

(1) agreements reached between trustees (managers) of defined benefit schemes and the
reporting entity regarding not only agreed contributions but also regarding funding

principles; and

(i) details of ‘regular’ and “special” contributions.
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5.6 There were a number of concerns raised by respondents regarding these
recommendations. Most notably respondents were concerned that funding obligations are very
often subject to renegotiation and that the amounts were, at best, estimates. The ASB were not

convinced by this argument and considered that the nature of the agreement could be disclosed.

5.7 The suggested disclosures in Appendix to this Chapter propose disclosures are made
regarding how the liabilities for pensions will be met through investment policies and greater
information about funding agreements reached between the entity and the plan.

6 Special cases for disclosure

Multi-employer schemes

6.1 One area that has not yet been addressed is that of multi-employer plans and whether
separate disclosure requirements should be specified. IAS 19 requires an entity to make the same

disclosures for multi-employer plans as that for its own plans.

6.2 Chapter 10 of this discussion paper addresses the financial reporting of multi-employer
plans and concludes that the recognition and measurement principles proposed in this discussion
paper are equally applicable to multi-employer plans. The question that needs then to be
considered is whether the disclosures proposed in this Chapter are also applicable. We can
consider their applicability by reviewing each of the disclosure objectives in relation to multi-

employer plans.

6.3 The first objective addresses the cost of providing benefits and the assets and liabilities
arising from the provision of benefits. In essence this disclosure objective seeks to provide an
understanding of the amounts presented in the financial statements. There seems no reason why
the amounts that are presented for multi-employer schemes should not be explained in the same

manner.

6.4 The second objective addresses the risks and rewards that arise from the provision of
pension benefits and the related assets and liabilities. The risks and rewards that arise from multi-
employer schemes depend on the nature of the entity’s participation in the plan and may be
restricted depending on the participation arrangements. It would therefore seem that a user of
financial statements needs equally to understand an entity’s risks and rewards in relation to a

multi-employer scheme as with other pension arrangements.

6.5 The third, and final, objective addresses funding obligations. The funding arrangements,
particularly funding deficits, are arguably more complex for multi-employer plans than an entity’s
own plan. They often involve negotiation between all participating employers and the plan’s

management. Equally, therefore this objective seems to apply.
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6.6 A review of the disclosure objectives for pension benefits suggests that the objectives are
equally applicable to multi-employer plans. IAS 197 does provide relief from disclosures where the
information is not available, however, it requires that fact to be disclosed in the financial
statements. Where information is not available then clearly this fact should be disclosed in the

financial statements.
Entities with more than one plan

6.7 The disclosures set out in the Chapter until now assume entities have only one plan or
arrangement. However, entities often have more than one arrangement — some of which may be
subject to different regulatory regimes. At present paragraph 122 of IAS 19 notes that when an
entity has more than one defined benefit plan, disclosures may be made in total, separately for each

plan, or in such groupings as are considered to be the most useful.

6.8 The aggregation of information is conceptually difficult especially as the terms and
conditions of the individual arrangements are likely to be different and subject to different legal
and regulatory regimes. There are, however, alternatives to the current requirements of IAS 19,

these include:

to require information to be provided in aggregate, and where individual schemes are
material to the group as a whole to identify disclosure requirements for those particular

plans;

to require information to be provided in aggregate, and to segregate plans into those plans

that are in surplus to those that are in deficit.

6.9 It was considered that in understanding the affect that pension assets and liabilities
may have on an entity it would be helpful to be able to distinguish between deficits and
surpluses which an entity is subject to. This analysis would provide a user of financial

statements with useful information about the resources an entity has available to it.

7 Costs and benefits

7.1 The analysis of disclosure requirements set out above, which are summarised in the
appendix to this Chapter, provide what appears to be an exhaustive list of disclosure requirements
and which some may consider excessive. It was noted however at the beginning of this Chapter
that it was necessary to develop disclosures that focus on needs of investors, avoiding cumbersome

disclosures.

7 Paragraph 29
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7.2 It was also noted at the beginning of this Chapter that a concern regarding the extent of
existing disclosure requirements for the provision of pension benefits had already been raised. In
this context a question was raised regarding the relative merits of requiring an entity to provide
extensive disclosures where its pension assets or liabilities are not material to its overall statement
of financial position. That is, a general concern was expressed that disclosures needed to recognise
the relevance (proportionately) of amounts. For this reason the appendix to the Chapter specifies

the disclosures that should be provided where material and relevant.

7.3 The areas where additional disclosures are recommended in this Chapter in contrast to IAS
19/FRS 17 principally relate to providing greater disclosure about the risk of financial instruments
held in connection with the investment strategies of a pension plan. These disclosures are adapted
from IFRS 7 — although some may consider these disclosures excessive it is questionable why
financial instruments held by a pension plan an employer sponsors should not be subject to the

same disclosure requirements as those assets held directly by the entity.

7.4 The second area where disclosures are extended relates to funding and investment
strategies. These disclosures respond to the concerns of users that financial statements should
improve the quality of disclosures for pensions by requiring greater information about the risks
and rewards an entity has in relation to liabilities to pay pensions. It might also be noted that SFAS
132 provides similar disclosure requirements for investment strategies and also requires disclosures

regarding future contributions to the pension plan.

7.5 It would therefore seem that although this Discussion Paper recommends extending the
disclosure requirements for pensions it does so having determined objectives for disclosures which

have taken into consideration the concerns of the needs of users of financial statements.

8 Summary

8.1 This Chapter reviews the disclosures that it would be appropriate for an accounting

standard to require.
8.2 Disclosures should provide information that explains the risks and rewards arising from
the provision of pension benefits, having regard to the materiality of the amounts involved, such

that:

(a) financial statements contain adequate disclosure of the cost of providing pension benefits

and any related gains, losses, assets and liabilities;

(b) users of financial statements are able to obtain a clear view of the risks and rewards arising

from liabilities to pay pension benefits and the assets held to fund those benefits; and

() the funding obligations of the entity, in relation to liabilities to pay pension benefits, are
clearly identified. (Section 2)
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8.3 For practical reasons, an accounting standard would have to permit an employer to
provide disclosure of information relating to its plans in aggregate; however, it would be
reasonable to require separate information about surpluses and deficits. There is also a case for
requiring specific disclosures for individual plans that are material to the group as a whole.
(Paragraphs 6.7-6.9)

An Appendix to this Chapter provides a summary of the proposed disclosures.
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APPENDIX A
Summary of proposed disclosures in the financial statements

Disclosures should provide information that explains the risks and rewards arising from the provision

of pension benefits, having regard to the materiality of the amounts involved.

(An entity is required to provide only disclosures that are relevant to the provision of its pension arrangements).

Financial statements contain adequate disclosure of the cost of providing pension benefits and any
related gains, losses, assets and liabilities

1. A reconciliation from the opening position for pension liabilities and the assets held to fund those
liabilities to the closing position for pension liabilities and the assets held to fund those liabilities. The
changes in assets and liabilities should be categorised according to the elements that give rise to the

movements in those assets and liabilities.

2. As part of the reconciliation, or as a separate note, a reconciliation of total movement in the pension
liabilities and the assets held to fund those liabilities to each of the primary financial statements. This
disclosure should reconcile the surplus/deficit in the fund to the balance sheet position, and the total cost

reported in the statement of comprehensive income.

3. The principal assumptions that are used to calculated pension liabilities as at the balance sheet date.
This should include details of the:

(1) discount rate;

(if) mortality rate — expressed at the number of year post retirement it is anticipated pension will be

paid to members of the scheme;
(iii) increases in salaries and general inflation; and
(iv)  any other material assumption.
Assumptions should be disclosed in a clear and effective manner.

4. A sensitivity analysis that shows the affect of changes in the principal assumptions used for the
measurement of the pension liability. As an alternative a user may provide a value-as-risk or similar

analysis to that of the sensitivity analysis.

5. Alternative measures of pension liabilities, where available. (As discussed in paragraphs 3.28-3.31,

this may be in the management commentary).

Users of financial statements are able to obtain a clear view of the risks and rewards arising from
liabilities to pay pension benefits and the assets held to fund those benefits
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6.  An entity should describe the nature of its liabilities arising from the provision of pensions to

employees, this includes arrangements where the assets and liabilities are held in a separate plan.

7.  The financial statements should disclose adequate information that enables the users of the financial
statements to understand the relationship between the reporting entity and the trustees/(managers) a
separate plan, fund or other arrangement. The information disclosed should allow the user to understand

who controls the separate plan, and any “unusual powers’ vested in trustees/(plan managers).

8.  The financial statements should provide information about the nature of the pension liability,

including details of:

o active employees;

. deferred members; and

o pensioners.

9.  The financial statements should disclose information that permits a user to understand the projected

cash flows on which the present value of liabilities is estimated. This information can be presented in

graphical form.

10. The financial statements should disclose information about the assets held to fund pension

liabilities, this should include:
(1) a description of the investment strategies, which gives rise to the allocation of assets held;

(i1) an analysis of the assets held to fund pension liabilities by category, this shall include (but is

not restricted to) equity instruments, debt, property; and
(ii) where assets are not traded in active markets, details of the valuation technique used.

12.  For each type of risk arising from financial instruments held to fund pension liabilities, an entity

should disclose:
(1) the exposure to risk and how they arise;

(i1) the objectives, policies and processes undertaken by the pension plan or the entity for

managing the risk and the methods used to measure the risk; and
(iii) any changes in (a) and (b) from the previous period.

An entity may disclose a sensitivity analysis, such as value-at-risk, for types of risks to which a defined
benefit scheme is exposed. Where an entity discloses such sensitivity analysis it should also disclose the
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method and assumptions used in preparing this analysis and any changes from the previous period in the
methods and assumptions used.

13. A narrative description of investment strategies including the expected return on assets and target

allocation percentages or ranges of percentages for each major category of plan assets.

That the funding obligations of an entity, in relation to liabilities to pay pension benefits, are clearly
identified.

14. A narrative assessment of how the liabilities for pensions will be met through the investment

policies (return on assets) and the future contributions by the entity.

15. Agreements reached between trustees (managers) of defined benefit schemes and the reporting

entity regarding not only agreed contributions but also regarding funding principles; and

16. Details of ‘regular’ and ‘special’ contributions where payable to a fund
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1 Introduction

1.1 In the previous Chapters of this discussion paper accounting for individual pension plans is
analysed. This Chapter focuses on the accounting for multi-employer plans. More specifically this
Chapter is seeking answers to the question of whether and how to recognise and measure the individual

employer’s share in the collective net pension asset or liability of the multi-employer plan.

1.2 This Chapter does not address the accounting for group administration plans. For state plans
where the benefit promise rests with the employer we expect similar principles to apply as for multi-

employer plans, and accordingly the discussion in this Chapter is relevant.

1.3 For multi-employer plans that have the characteristics of defined benefit plans, IAS 19.29 requires
the individual employers that participate in the plan to account for their proportionate share of assets and
liabilities in the plan under the condition that sufficient information on the pension plan’s assets and

liabilities is available to the individual employer.

1.4 This requirement is being questioned in certain jurisdictions by employers participating in multi-
employers plans, their auditors as well as by representatives of the multi-employer plans themselves.
Many have argued that the outcome of the proportionate share of assets and liabilities of the fund is not a
proper reflection of the actual liability of the individual participating employer. Many employers also
have argued that from their perspective it would be questionable to classify multi-employer plans de facto

as defined benefit plans when taking into account the governance of these plans.

2 Definition of multi-employer plans

2.1 IAS 19 provides the following characteristics of multi-employer plans:

. a pool of assets contributed by various entities that are not under common control.

. benefits are paid to employees of more than one entity on the basis that the contribution and

benefit levels are determined without regard to the identity of the entity that employs the

employees concerned.

22 These characteristics apply to a wide variety of multi-employer plans. In the European context
they apply to plans in which only two employers collectively provide pension benefits to their employees,
and also to plans in which all the (former) employers and employees of a whole industry sector (have to")

participate.

! In certain countries employers are required by law to participate in these industry sector plans.
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2.3 Examples of the second type, which sometimes also are referred to as industry plans, can be found
amongst others in the United States, Sweden, The Netherlands and to a lesser extent in Germany. The
main characteristics, next to the characteristics mentioned in the definition as provided in IAS 19, of these

plans are:

o The bargaining parties (unions and associations of employers) negotiate a contribution rate and
the board translates that rate into a benefit. Decisions to increase or decrease benefits or change

the plan are made by the board of the plan and not by the participating individual employer.

. As a result of this indirect representation individual employers cannot exert any measurable

influence on decisions made by the board.

o The size of the plan in terms of invested assets, pension obligations and number of participants is
significant when compared with the total assets / liabilities or number of employees of the

individual employers that are members of the plan.

o Stakeholders of the plan (employees, employers and pensioners) are only indirectly represented in

the board of the plan by their unions, associations of employers and pensioner representatives.

24 In some countries an additional distinctive characteristic is present for certain industry and or

state plans:

o The obligation to pay contributions is directly linked to the current wages of active employees that
participate in the pension plan. There is no direct obligation to pay contributions for former
employees. An individual employer can technically “walk away” from its obligation by leaving

the industry and releasing the employees that are participants in the plan.

3 Recognition and measurement
Recognition
3.1 According to IAS 19, multi-employer plans are classified (defined benefit or defined contribution)

and accounted for in the same way as single employer plans, considering the characteristics of the plan
and the obligation of the employer. For multi-employer plans that are characterised as defined benefit
plans this means that the participating individual company has to recognise its proportionate share of the

plan’s pension asset or liability.
3.2 Characterisation as either defined benefit or defined contribution under IFRS follows the strict

definitions provided in IAS 19. Defined contribution plans in this context are defined as plans for which

the employer has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
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sufficient assets. By using these definitions many multi-employer plans qualify as defined benefit plans.

3.3 Unlike IFRS, US GAAP does not require an employer to account for its proportionate share of the
assets, liabilities and costs of a defined benefit multi-employer plan, but allows the employer to recognise

as net pension cost only the required contribution for the period.

3.4 Conceptually there seems to be no reason to create a scope exception for the accounting of multi-
employer plans as currently applicable in US GAAP. Furthermore, the introduction of scope exceptions
seems to go against the overall objective of contributing to the development of principles-based standards
on the financial reporting of pensions. The recognition principles as set out in previous Chapters of this
paper should therefore also apply in relation to multi-employer plans.

4 Multi-employer plan’s assets and liabilities —reporting entities

4.1 As explained in Chapter 3 of this paper, liabilities to pay pension benefits could be:

. liabilities of the employer (in the individual financial statements);
. liabilities of another entity (e.g. a separate pension provider or an employer-sponsored trust);
. liabilities of the employer’s group — (in the consolidated financial statements — if they were

liabilities of another entity that was accounted for as if it were a subsidiary of the employer).

Similarly, assets held to pay benefits could be:

o assets of the employer (in the individual financial statements);
. assets of another entity (e.g. a separate pension provider or an employer-sponsored trust);
. assets of the employer’s group — (in the employer’s consolidated financial statements — if they

were assets of another entity that was accounted for as if it were a subsidiary of the employer).

4.2 For multi-employer plans in most cases the employers have the obligation to make contributions
to the plan. The plan has the obligation to pay pension benefits to the members of the plan when they
become entitled to these benefits. The rights and obligations of the different parties appear to be as set out
in the following table. This table has many similarities with the table provided in Chapter 3 which shows
the rights and obligations in respect of a single-employer plan when assets and liabilities are held in a

separate trust and the employer has an obligation to support the trust.
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Assets

Liabilities

Members

Claim against the multi-
employer plan for right to
receive pension benefits (A)

Multi-employer plan

Assets invested

Right to call for
contributions from the
participating employers to
the extent that the plan’s
obligations cannot be met
from its own assets (B)

Obligation to plan members
to pay their benefits (A)

Possibly, an obligation to
return a surplus to the
participating employers, to
the extent that the plan’s
own assets exceed its
obligations (C)

Employing entity

Possibly, a right to call for a
return of its share of surplus
from the plan to the extent
that the plan’s own assets
exceed its obligations (C)

A share of the participating
employers’ obligation to the
plan to the extent that the

plan’s obligations cannot be
met from its own assets (B),

4.3 For certain multi-employer plans (mostly industry plans), the employer may have the opportunity
to “walk away” from future obligations by leaving the industry and without incurring any further
obligations. In these cases it could be reasoned that the obligating event is participation in the multi-
employer plan during the reporting period and that the employer’s obligation at any point in time would

be limited to the current contributions payable.

4.4 This approach has similarities with the approach as outlined in IFRIC Interpretation 6 ‘Liabilities
arising from Participating in a Specific Market — Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment’. According
to this interpretation, participation in the market during the measurement period is the obligating event
in accordance with paragraph 14(a) of IAS 37. As a consequence, a liability for waste management costs
for historical household equipment does not arise as the products are manufactured or sold. Because the
obligation for historical household equipment is linked to participation in the market during the
measurement period, rather than to production or sale of the items to be disposed of, there is no
obligation unless and until a market share exists during the measurement period. The timing of the
obligating event may also be independent of the particular period in which the activities to perform the

waste management are undertaken and the related costs incurred.

4.5 However, on the other hand it could be argued that on a macro-economic scale it is highly
unlikely that all participating employers will be able to “walk away” from their collective obligation.
Therefore, in order to conclude that an individual employer is able to walk away from its obligation also

these macro-economic factors need to be taken into account.

210



Chapter 10: Accounting for multi-employer plans

5 Measurement of the multi-employer plan’s assets and liabilities

5.1 The views on measurement of pension assets and liabilities set out in Chapters 5-7 and 11 of this
paper seem equally applicable to multi-employer plans. From a theoretical perspective there does not
seem to be a convincing argument to allow a different set of measurement principles for multi-employer
plans. However, from a more practical perspective, some have questioned whether it is reasonable to
require multi-employer plans to provide some of the individual employers with the necessary
information to calculate their proportionate share in the plan’s asset / liability. This would probably
increase the administrative burden of the fund especially when the plan is accounting under a different
set of accounting principles than IFRS. It furthermore has to be noted that the information requirements
are not similar for every individual employer. These requirements may be different depending on the
accounting principles applied by the employer as well as on potential regulatory requirements. For these
reasons, for some industry and state plans it has proven to be fairly difficult to obtain the required

information from the multi-employer plans.

52 Furthermore the funds seem to have difficulties providing the necessary data on time (before the
reporting date of the individual employers). Additionally it has become clear that individual employers,
due to the governance structure of many pension funds, do not have the authority to demand the

required information.

6 Measurement of the employing entity’s pension related assets and
liabilities
6.1 In accordance with IAS 19.32; where sufficient information is available about a multi-employer

plan which is a defined benefit plan, an entity accounts for its proportionate share of the defined benefit
obligation, plan assets and post-employment benefit cost associated with the plan in the same way as for

any other defined benefit plan >

6.2 This requirement justifies raising the question whether accounting for the proportionate share of
assets and liabilities provides a proper reflection of the individual participating employer’s share in the

difference between the multi-employer plan’s assets and obligations.

6.3 There are a number of complicating factors that could impair a proper reflection of the pension
related assets and liabilities of the individual participating employer. The first complicating factor is the

fact that, to allocate parts of the total plan assets and pension liabilities of the fund, an allocation key has

2 However, in some cases, an entity may not be able to identify its share of the underlying financial position and
performance of the plan with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes. This may occur if:

(a) the entity does not have access to information about the plan that satisfies the requirements of the standard; or
(b) the plan exposes the participating entities to actuarial risks associated with the current and former employees of

other entities, with the result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, plan assets
and cost to individual entities participating in the plan. In those cases, an entity accounts for the plan as if it were a
defined contribution plan and discloses additional information.
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to be used. One can think of many allocation keys such as number of employees, wage bill etc. However,
all these keys cannot take fully into account the fact that the liability is not so much related to the actual
number of employees or payroll expenses of the individual employer but is rather related to the build up
of the entire fund. By definition, in a multi-employer plan risks typically are shared by all those involved.
Those involved change constantly as new employers enter and others leave. The outcome of any
allocation key would therefore always be an average of the net asset / liability, which potentially does not
fully provide information on the liability on an individual employer’s basis. It becomes even more
difficult when one tries to allocate a net asset of the fund to the individual employers. Some believe that
due to these complicating factors it would be better not to recognise an asset or liability in the individual
employer balance sheet related to the multi-employer plan but only to recognise the contributions

payable.

6.4 Some others believe that even when an allocation key could be determined the result would not
be a reflection of the individual employer’s liability towards the fund and therefore no asset or liability
related to the multi-employer plan should be recognised. Those who support this view have reasoned
that there is a difference between the current pension asset or liability of the multi employer plan in
accordance with IAS 19 and the future funding by the collective of (future) employers and employees. In
their view, this is demonstrated by the following:

. The board of the plan, when determining future contribution / funding requirements, is reviewing
a pension asset / liability that is calculated on the basis of information and assumptions that in

many cases is different from those applied in IFRS.

. The pension asset / liability of the plan is not a static amount that cannot be controlled by the
board of the plan. Next to requiring funding from participating employers the board can manage
the liability by changing employees’ contributions, the indexation of the pension benefits or the
nature of certain other benefits. Changing these elements would also directly impact future
contributions by the individual employers.

. In many collective bargaining agreements the employer and employee contributions are capped
for a certain period of time and can only move between pre-set limits. This may also indicate that
there is a difference between the current asset / liability in accordance with IFRS and the actual
future funding. Furthermore, it is claimed that multi-employer plans are not open ended from a
contribution perspective because, in the event of major shortages in the fund, many funds have
decreased benefits instead of increasing contributions. This at least provides some indication that
under-funding does not automatically have to result in contribution increases but could also lead
to benefit decreases. The latter demonstrates that a part of the risk of underfunding lies with the
employees and pensioners and not with the employers? and that the pension asset and liability is

not a static amount that cannot be (at least partially) be controlled.

® It should also be noted that for many industry plans the effect of pension contribution increases on the plan assets is fairly
limited due to the fact that a majority of the fund’s participants are inactive (e.g. no longer employed in the industry).
Changing contribution levels is therefore in many cases considered to be rather ineffective for managing underfunding.
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6.5 It may be noted, however, that many of the examples provided could also apply in situations
where an individual employer is sponsoring a separate plan. Recent history has shown that, in the case of
single-employer plans, the pension asset / liability is sometimes managed in more ways than only by
changing the employer’s contributions. Where this occurs, it may be argued that contributions by the
sponsor are to a certain extent capped and that the risk of underfunding also lies with the employees and
pensioners. In this respect multi-employer plans appear to have similar characteristics to single-employer
plans and it seems reasonable to take the view that the same principles for the recognition and

measurement of the pension asset / liability should apply for both single and multi-employer plans.

7 Reflect the individual employer’s obligation to the multi-employer plan

7.1 The first step in measuring the individual employer’s obligation to the multi-employer plan is the
determination of the total pension asset / liability of the multi-employer plan as a whole. As discussed in
paragraph 10.17 of this Chapter it was concluded that the same measurement principles for this pension

asset / liability should apply as for individual plans.

7.2 In Chapter 5 the view is put forward that a current value measure of a liability in respect of future
pensions will be a “settlement amount’, reflecting a measure of the cash outflows (or other transfers of
economic benefits) needed now or in the future to discharge the liability. It is also suggested that if
alternative means of settling a liability are currently available to an entity (i.e. it is within the employer’s
control to achieve them), the liability should be reported at the lowest amount of the available

alternatives.

7.3 If a multi-employer plan is in deficit, the principal means by which an employer could settle its

obligation seem to be:

. buy-out (i.e. an immediate payment to the plan to discharge the liability), or

. payment of contributions required for continuing participation.

In many situations, there may be no possibility of settling the liability currently.

7.4 In a single-employer plan, Chapter 7 suggests that an employer’s liability in respect of a deficit (or
asset in respect of a surplus) should be based on the difference between the current value of the plan’s
liability to pay benefits and the current value of its assets. This basis reflects both the expected
contributions that the employer will be required to pay and the employer’s constructive obligation to the

plan if the plan’s assets do not perform as expected.

7.5 In a multi-employer plan, an equivalent settlement amount would reflect the expected future
cash-flows of the individual employer to the multi-employer plan for settling its obligation for its former
and current employees that participate(d) in the plan and its constructive obligation in respect of its share

in the current under- or over-funding of the plan. Unlike a single-employer plan, the latter would reflect
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additional risks that an employer takes in relation to the actions of other participating employers.
However, individual employers or multi-employer plans in most cases do not have all the information
available to determine a settlement amount on this basis. As a result, it seems necessary to consider, as a
surrogate for a settlement amount, an allocation of a deficit or surplus in the plan to determine individual

employers’ proportionate shares.

7.6 This requires identifying an allocation key. We discussed several allocation keys and concluded
that probably it would be preferable to use a key that is related to the basis that is also used for
determining the pension contribution. This basis would, in many cases, be related to the pensionable
salary of the active employees. In this event the allocation key would be the pensionable salary of the
individual employer divided by the total pensionable salary of all the participation employers. By
multiplying this key with the total pension asset / liability the proportionate share of the individual

employer can be determined.

7.7 The periodic change in the employer’s share of the multi-employer plan’s total asset / liability
should be classified as a separate line item in the profit & loss account similar to actuarial gains and losses

whereas the pension contribution payable could be classified as employee compensation expenses.

7.8 Although it is agreed that the outcome of the approach described above is not perfect and also not
necessarily the same as individual employer’s future cash-flows related to its participation in the fund, in

absence of better alternatives, it is probably the best alternative available to date.

8 Reflect only recovery plans or asset refund plans

8.1 Some believe that, in absence of a “reliable” method for measuring the individual employer’s
share in the multi-employer plan net asset / liability, no asset or liability should be recorded except for
the current pension contributions payable and potentially any additional liabilities resulting from
recovery plans implemented by the multi-employer plan®. We believe that this third alternative should
only be used in the rare event that the individual employer is unable to obtain the required information
from the multi-employer plan. This situation could potentially occur for certain state plans and large

multi employer plans that have the characteristics of state plans.

* The recording of a liability for recovery plans follows the guidance in IAS 19.32A and IAS 19.32B which states
that the guidance in IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent assets” should be applied.
Following this guidance an additional asset or liability has to be recorded in the event that the board of the
plan has agreed to a recovery plan that includes future pension premium increases or a surplus distribution
plans that includes premium discounts or refunds (partly) to the individual employers.
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9 Summary

9.1 The recognition and measurement principles as set out in Chapters 4-7 of this paper should also
apply in relation to multi-employer plans. Accordingly, the pension liability of an individual employer
will be a “settlement amount’ reflecting its expected future cash-flows to the plan for settling its obligation
for its former and current employees and any constructive obligation in respect of its share in the current

under- or over-funding of the plan.

9.2 The following alternative approaches are considered as a surrogate for a settlement amount.
o Proportionate share of collective pension asset or liability

o Reflect only the effect of recovery plans or asset refund plans

o Do not account for the employer’s rights and obligations in respect of under- or over-funding.
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9.3 The following table provides an overview of the alternatives together with our main

observations:
Preference of | Measurement | Comments on method
measurement | Method
method
Most Settlement o Information on settlement amount needs to be obtained from
amount multi-employer plan. To obtain this information from the
plan may be challenging.

e For plans where the individual employer can “walk away”
from its obligation the settlement amount would be equal to
current pension contribution payable.

Proportionate o To calculate the individual employer’s share in the plan a
share in collective calculation needs to be obtained from multi-employer plan as
net pension asset well as an allocation key. To obtain this information on a
/ liability of the timely basis may be difficult. However the resources needed
multi-employer to calculate collective net pension asset / liability is probably
plan less than those needed to calculate individual settlement
amounts.

Recording of e Also for this approach information from the multi-employer
pension asset / plan needs to be obtained. However, the resources needed to
liability only to provide this information to the individual employers seems
reflect the effects to be less that for the previous two alternatives.
on the individual
employers of o Only a limited part of the pension liability of the individual
recovery plans or employer would be reflected in the employer’s balance sheet.
asset refund
plans

Least No individual e  There seems to be no theoretical basis for this approach.
pension liability.

e  This alternative should only be used in the rare event that no
information is available to calculate the settlement amount
or the employer’s proportionate share.
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1 Introduction

11 Previous Chapters of this Discussion Paper have in the main addressed the financial reporting by
employers. Although pension plans were mentioned, the main considerations related to the employer’s
financial statements. This Chapter addresses the financial reporting by pension plans.

2 Why is financial reporting by pension plans important?

2.1 For many individuals an interest in a pension plan is one of their most valuable assets, and so
members of pension plans are naturally interested in the plan’s financial affairs. Members cannot
necessarily derive all the information they require from the employer’s financial statements. For instance,
information on several pension plans may be aggregated in the employer’s financial statements, whilst
the member needs information on the specific plan of which he is a member. It is also possible that
members require different information than that which is provided in the employer’s financial statements,

which are primarily intended to serve the needs of investors in the employer.

22 The financial reports of pension plans are therefore important, and good financial reporting by
pension plans can be expected to contribute to confidence in pension plans. However, financial reporting
requirements for pension plans have often been greatly influenced by regulatory requirements. As has
been noted elsewhere in this paper, regulators have as one of their prime concerns the solvency of
pension arrangements and information that is suitable for monitoring solvency is not necessarily the same

as that which provides the fullest financial information from an accounting perspective.

2.3 Perhaps because of the dominance of regulatory requirements, accounting standard-setters may
not always have devoted adequate time and resources to the financial reporting of pension plans. But
nonetheless good reporting by pension plans is important to members and to economies in which pension
plans are significant. The accounting profession, and standard-setters in particular, should consider

whether they have a contribution to make.

3 A standard for financial reporting by pension plans?

3.1 Pension plans may be required to prepare various reports for different purposes—reporting to
regulators, members and so on. This Chapter, however, discusses standards that would focus on the
general purpose financial reports that a plan might be required to prepare rather than these other specific
kinds of reports. We also note that narrative reporting is potentially of great value in reporting the
financial position of a pension plan and standard-setters have addressed this topic, for example, in IASB’s
Discussion Paper on Management Commentary. Accordingly this Chapter considers information that

might be conveyed either in the general purpose financial statements or elsewhere in the annual report.
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3.2 Financial reporting is converging on a single set of standards promulgated by IASB ('IFRS’).
Because IFRS will shape the expectations of those who read and use financial reports, it would be
regrettable if the financial reports for pension plans were to be drawn up in accordance with different
principles from those used by the IASB for other entities.

3.3 There is already an international standard, IAS 26 “‘Accounting and Reporting by Retirement
Benefit Plans’. IAS 26 is now twenty years old, and it seems reasonable to question whether it reflects
current accounting thinking. In particular, it contains a number of options on whether the liability for
future benefits is presented in financial statements, and whether the liability is to be calculated on present

or projected salary levels.

3.4 There is therefore a strong case for reconsidering the requirements of IAS 26. A replacement
international standard, setting out appropriate requirements for the financial reporting of pension plans
would be helpful to those responsible for the regulation of pension plans and would have the advantage

of ensuring that the requirements were consistent globally.

3.5 It may be, however, that other priorities of the IASB will prevent it from devoting the necessary
resources to developing a replacement standard. Nonetheless, the existence of IAS 26 provides an
obstacle to jurisdictions wishing to develop more rigorous and up-to-date guidance. IASB should
therefore consider withdrawing the current IAS 26 even if it is not able to develop a replacement at this

time.

3.6 The financial statements of pension plans are likely to have many issues that need specific
consideration or interpretation. So it may not be feasible simply to require the observance of IFRS in total.
Nevertheless, the financial reporting for pension plans should be consistent with IFRS, and there should

be a specific requirement to observe IFRS where an issue is not otherwise addressed.

3.7 In the light of the foregoing discussion, it is proposed that:

IASB should consider withdrawing IAS 26 “Accounting and reporting by retirement benefit plans’.
Requirements for the general purpose financial reports of pension plans should be consistent with
IFRS.

3.8 Most of the remainder of this Chapter discusses what such requirements might be. However, to

put that discussion in context, the next section addresses the objective of the financial reports of pension

plans.

4 The objective of financial reports of pension plans

4.1 The objective of financial statements as set out in the IASB’s current ‘Framework for the

Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements’ is:
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to provide information about the financial position, performance and changes in financial position of an
entity that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic decisions (IASB: Framework, paragraph
12)

4.2 In the IASB's July 2006 Discussion Paper ‘Preliminary Views on an improved Conceptual

Framework for Financial Reporting’ the following objective is proposed:

The objective of general purpose financial reporting is to provide information that is useful to present and potential
investors and creditors and others in making investment, credit, and similar resource allocation decisions (paragraph
OB2)

4.3 These objectives should be suitable as the basis for a standard on pension plan accounts.
However, it is perhaps useful to emphasise two points that appear to be particularly relevant in this

context. These are:

o the importance of stewardship in the objective of financial reports; and
o the users of the financial reports.
Stewardship

4.4 Currently, as part of the IASB/FASB project to revise their Frameworks, the balance between
‘decision usefulness’” and stewardship in the objective of financial statements is being debated. It seems to
be generally accepted that, although the draft objectives refer explicitly only to decision usefulness, this

does not exclude information that is needed to assess stewardship (or 'accountability’).

4.5 Although members of a pension plan may be able to make some decisions in respect of their
pensions—they may, for example, elect to transfer their pensions or to pay additional contributions,
typically the scope for decision-making by members of pension plans is limited. On the other hand,
pension plans hold assets on behalf of their members and are (or ought to be) accountable to members for
their deployment and return. It therefore seems that the idea of accountability (or stewardship) is a
necessary part of the objective of the financial reports of pension plans. One of the key needs of members
of a pension plan is to be able to assess the security of their benefits and their likely timing and amounts:*
Although that assessment may sometimes influence economic decisions taken by the members, it is more
direct to be clear that providing information that is useful for such an assessment is an objective of

financial reports.

In the USA, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 35 (SFAS 35) “Accounting and Reporting
by Defined Benefit Pension Plans’ specifies that the primary objective of a pension plan’s financial
statements is “to provide financial information that is useful in assessing the plan’s present and future
ability to pay benefits when due” (paragraph 5)
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The primary user of pension plan reports

4.6 The discussion above has assumed that the members of pension plans are amongst the main users
of the financial reports provided by plans. We now need to review who the users of pension plan reports
are, and what their needs are. The table below sets out some of the users of pension plan financial reports

and their needs:

Users Requirements

Active and deferred members, Security, timing and amount of benefits.

pensioners and other Investment returns and strategies

beneficiaries

Members” advisers and As for members, but possibly with greater detail.

representatives, including trade

unions

Trustees To demonstrate the financial consequences of actions taken
by the Board of Trustees in governing the plan and their
stewardship of the funds.

Governments and regulators To oversee and regulate pensions in order that the industry
portrays confidence and financial stability — economic impact
of pensions is regulated.

Employers Interested in financial position of the plan as it will affect
funding and contribution levels — has direct effect on the
economic resources available to an entity.

4.7 It may be noted that, with the exception of members and their advisers, all of the users in the table

above will normally be able to secure whatever information they wish concerning the financial position
and affairs of the plan. This suggests that general purpose financial reports should focus on the needs of
members. This is not, of course, to deny that the other users may find the general financial reports useful
and be keenly interested in them, but only to point out that these reports are not produced primarily for
the benefit of such users.
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4.8 The conclusion that financial reports of pension plans should primarily focus on the members
may seem questionable, given the evidence’ that members of pension plans rarely request copies of the
plan’s financial statements and, perhaps, would be challenged to understand them in many cases.
However, this overlooks the role of their representatives (including trade unions) and other financial
advisers. They will want to study the pension plan’s financial report closely and will find it most useful if
it is prepared from the perspective of the member, since their role is to act in the members’ interests and
to advise members on their pension affairs. For this reason, the role of employee representatives and

advisers requires special emphasis.

Defined benefit and defined contribution plans

49 Earlier in this paper it was noted that existing standards for pensions draw a sharp distinction
between defined contribution and defined benefit plans. This paper seeks to avoid relying on that
distinction. It may, however, be questioned whether a single objective is appropriate for both types of
plans. IAS 26, for example, states slightly different objectives for them (in paragraphs 16 and 22,

respectively).

410 It may be suggested that members in a defined contribution plan are at greater risk than those in a
defined benefit plan from investment performance: conversely, if members of defined benefit plans are
less exposed to investment risk information on the employer’s covenant is of the most significance for
them.

411  Obviously there is no role for information on an employer’s covenant if there isn’t one, as would
be usual in a defined contribution plan. In a defined contribution plan there is no uncertainty about the

amount of its liability for future benefits, which will be the same as the amount of its assets.

412  Butitis not necessarily correct to say that a member of a defined benefit plan is not interested at
all in the investment performance. After all, even in a defined benefit plan, a member’s claim is still
primarily on the plan. It is more secure the greater the amount of funds available to pay benefits. As has
been noted one of the common reasons for setting up a separate entity is to isolate the assets used to pay
benefits from the commercial hazards to which the employer is subject. There is also, in some

circumstances, a possibility that a member may receive improved benefits in the event of a surplus.

Evidence from the UK is given in The Pension Regulator’s Discussion Paper ‘A review of the form and
content of pension scheme report and accounts’(June 2006) and ‘A review of the form and content of
pension scheme report and accounts: The regulator’s response’ (November 2006).
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413  Inthe light of the foregoing it is concluded that a single objective is relevant for all plans. For the
purpose of this Chapter, the following objective is proposed.

The objective of the financial reports of a pension plan is to provide information about the financial
position, performance and changes in financial position of a pension plan that is useful to members
and those who act in their interests, in making economic decisions and assessing the stewardship of

the trustees.

414  This objective is that financial reports will provide information that is useful in assessing the
plan’s present and future ability to pay benefits when due. It includes specific reference to ‘those who act
in the interests’ of members, so that information that only a professional can understand is included.
Because the objective includes stewardship, pension plan reports should make trustees accountable to

members, and explain the strategies adopted by the trustees and report on their outcomes.

5 Assets available to pay benefits

5.1 Most (perhaps often all) of the assets of a pension plan will consist of investments that are held in
order to provide the funds to pay benefits. IAS 26.32 requires these investments to be stated at fair value,

which is market value in the case of marketable securities.

5.2 The valuation of these assets was discussed in Chapter 6, the conclusions of which are consistent
with the requirements of IAS 26. (The only significant difference would appear to be that IAS 26 makes
explicit allowance for cases where a fair value cannot be obtained.) The conclusions of that Chapter are

equally applicable to the financial reports of pension plans and are reproduced below:

(a) Reporting assets held to pay benefits at current value provides more useful information than
reporting them at historical measures. This is consistent with the views presented on measuring
liabilities to pay benefits.

(b) The present requirement in pensions accounting standards that assets traded in active markets are

measured at market prices is well founded.

() The role of investment strategy in meeting obligations to pay benefits requires disclosure and

explanation (rather than recognition) in financial statements.

(d) When an asset is not traded in an active market, a market-based value should be estimated using a
valuation technique in accordance with the guidance in other accounting standards. It is
important that the supporting disclosures about such assets convey information about the
valuation techniques that have been used and the nature and extent of the risks arising and, in this
regard, that users are made aware of the relative liquidity of alternative investments (that is,

investments other than financial instruments that are traded on recognised exchanges).
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5.3 These conclusions may be summarised as follows:

Assets available to pay benefits should be stated at current value, which is market value where the
asset is traded on a market.

6 Liabilities to pay benefits

6.1 The most striking divergence of the financial statements of pension plans from generally accepted
practice is in the treatment of liabilities for benefits payable in the future. IAS 26 requires a plan to
prepare a statement of net assets available for benefits, and permits three options in respect of the

actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits.

(a) it may be incorporated in the net asset statement, which therefore shows a resulting surplus or
deficit;

(b) it may not be reported in the net asset statement but disclosed in a note to that statement;

() it may be neither recognised nor disclosed in a note to the statement of net assets available for
benefits.

6.2 A separate actuarial report is required where a plan chooses option (c); otherwise presentation of

such a report is optional. Thus some form of disclosure of the actuarial present value of promised
retirement benefits is required either in the financial statements or in an accompanying report. The value
of this, however, is diminished as IAS 26 contains few specific requirements for the calculation of the

actuarial present value and specifically permits it to be based either on current or on projected salary

levels (paragraph 23).
6.3 This gives rise to three questions, which are addressed separately below:
@) Should a standard require a liability for benefits payable in the future to be included in a plan’s

primary financial statements?
(ii) Is the plan’s liability the same as the employer’s?

(iii) ~ How should the plan’s liability for benefits payable in the future be measured?
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Should pension plans’ financial statements include a liability for benefits payable in the future?

6.4 In earlier parts of this paper the relative position of the employer and a pension plan has been
analysed in some detail. The discussion noted that, in many situations which arise quite commonly, the
primary liability to pay future benefits rested not with the employer, but with the plan. It might seem to
be self-evident that, where this is the case, the plan should report a liability.*

6.5 However, it is clear that a proposal to include in the financial statements of pension plans a
liability for future benefits is likely to be controversial particularly in those jurisdictions, such as the UK,
where it would be a significant change from present practice (although it is required in many other

jurisdictions). The arguments therefore merit close attention.

6.6 If a plan’s statement of financial position omits a significant liability —and generally the obligation
to pay benefits in the future will be significant—then it is very questionable whether the financial
statements can be said to give a fair presentation of the plan’s financial affairs. It was noted above that
one of the objectives of a plan’s financial statements was to enable an assessment to be made of the
trustees’ stewardship of the plan, but it would seem impossible to achieve this if significant liabilities are
excluded. For example, if a plan accepts a transfer of members its financial statements will report the
increase in its assets, but not the effect of the transfer on the plan’s liabilities. It is doubtful whether such
incomplete information could be regarded as satisfactory even if the basis for its preparation was fully

disclosed.

6.7 One of the grounds for opposing reporting a liability for future benefits is that it might be
confusing to members. One reason for this is that liabilities might be quantified in different ways for
different purposes and members may demand to know what the ‘right’ number is. Another possible
source of confusion is that it might tend to imply that the plan is insolvent when this is not the case.
However, the purpose of the financial statements is to report the financial position at a specific point in
time, not to point unambiguously to further outcomes. Under present requirements some plans report
alternative measures of the liability (and surplus deficit) to their members and explain the significance of
each. Itis to be expected that those who represent pension plan members or who provide financial advice

to them will understand the significance of the amounts reported.

6.8 Another reason for objecting to the inclusion in a plan’s financial statements is the cost of doing
so. However, it would appear that the most significant additional cost is likely to be that of audit: against
such costs the benefit of additional credibility in the financial statements would have to be weighed.
Experience from Australia suggests that the incremental costs may be much lower than had been feared
by many.

It was also noted above that there are some arrangements where the primary liability rests with the
employer, who is entitled to be reimbursed by the pension plan. The following discussion is equally
applicable to such arrangements, where the plan’s liability is to the employer rather than to the
member.
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6.9 The arguments against the inclusion in a plan’s financial statements of a liability to pay future

benefits do not seem to be convincing. Accordingly it is proposed that:

The standard should require a pension plan’s financial statements to include the liability to pay future

pensions.

Is the plan’s liability the same as the employer’s?

6.10  In Chapter 2 of this paper, the components of the liability that arises in from a promise to pay
pensions are discussed at length. The discussion may have tended to focus on the position of the
employer. In the main, however, the conclusions of that Chapter seem equally applicable to the position
of the plan.

6.11  The only issue that seems to merit further comment is whether the plan has a liability in respect of
decisions that are within the employer’s discretion (or, at least, some might consider that the employer has
discretion). The point arises mainly in respect of the effect of future salary increases. We noted in
Chapter 2 that views are divided as to whether the liability should reflect future salary increases, where
these affect the amount of the benefit to be paid. As noted above, IAS 26 permits a plan to calculate and

report its liability using either current or projected salary levels.

6.12 It would seem possible to maintain that whilst the employer’s liability should reflect future salary
increases that of the plan should not: on this view a plan’s liability increases only when a salary increase is
awarded. IAS 26 notes this argument in favour of a current salary approach, and also that a current salary
calculation is more objective, and more closely related to the amount payable in the event of termination
or discontinuance. However, it seems contradictory to hold that the employer’s liability includes a factor

that the plan’s does not, especially as the plan stands ready to accept the totality of liability.
6.13  Thus it is proposed that:

The components of a plan’s liability should be the same as those identified in Chapter 3.

How should the plan’s liability be measured?

6.14  IAS 26 s clear that a plan’s liability should be quantified as an actuarial valuation, and this is
probably the basis that is most widely used in practice. Although IAS 26 does not specify further what an
actuarial valuation involves, the term would seem to include methods that discount liabilities at the rate

that the plan’s investments are expected to return.

6.15  In Chapter 5 various bases for the measurement of pension liabilities were discussed. It was
concluded that, in most cases, a run-off amount would be the basis to be used, and methods that take
account of the return on assets were rejected. That discussion is equally applicable to the liability of a

plan.
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6.16  Regulatory measures (including technical provisions in the EU) were considered in Chapter 5 as a
possible means of quantifying the liability. It was noted that these are actuarial calculations, are
concerned primarily to secure adequacy of funding, and do not correspond to measures based on
accounting principles. They reflect, amongst other things, the strength of the employer’s covenant. It
might, however, be argued that regulatory measures should be used for the financial statements of a plan,
since it is the prime duty of trustees to secure adequate funding (as defined by the regulatory
environment), and it is against this target that their stewardship should be assessed.

6.17  This cannot, however, be accepted. It is true that a regulatory measure is used to monitor the
compliance of a pension plan with funding requirements and that, if they are not met, action may be
taken against the employer and/or the trustees. But the responsibility of the trustees is wider than simply
that of securing funding that complies with whatever regulation the plan is subject to: they are
responsible for the totality of the plan’s financial affairs and should be accountable to members and other
beneficiaries in respect of them. Funding requirements are obviously relevant to the work of the trustees,
but it would be anomalous if changes in the regulatory requirements (or an employer’s covenant)

impacted on the plan’s reported liability to pay pensions.
6.18  Thus this paper proposes that:

A plan’s liability in respect of future pensions should be measured according to the principles

identified in Chapter 5 above.

6.19  This proposal, however, does not necessarily imply that the plan’s liability will be identical to that
of the employer. The management of each entity is responsible for that entity’s financial statements. It is
not inevitable that the assumptions adopted by the trustees or managers of the plan will be identical to
those adopted by the employer. To the extent that the assumptions differ, so will the reported liability. It
might be expected, however, that in many cases, the employer and the plan managers will adopt similar

assumptions, as they have, for example, to reach agreement on contribution levels.

7 The employer’s covenant

7.1 If the above proposals are accepted, a consequence would seem to be that, in many cases, a plan’s
reported liability would exceed its assets, giving rise to an apparent deficiency. However, where an
employer has undertaken or is required to ensure that the plan is able to pay the promised benefits the
apparent deficiency might be explained by the fact that this undertaking is not reflected in the plan’s
financial statements, which are therefore misleading. It is therefore necessary to consider how that

undertaking should be reflected in the plan’s financial statements.
7.2 Where the employer and the plan have agreed that a shortfall will be addressed by the employer

making specified payments over and above its regular contributions, and that agreement is enforceable,

then it should be recognised in the plan’s financial statements as any other financial asset, at an amount
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reflecting both the time value of money and credit risk.* Such an agreement is often intended to address a
shortfall in funding, and there will, in many cases remain over and above such agreed amounts the
employer’s general responsibility or undertaking to ensure that promised benefits are paid. This is

referred to as ‘the employer’s covenant'.

7.3 Under current accounting standards, the employer’s covenant might in some cases be regarded,
from the plan’s perspective, as a contingent asset. Amounts will only be receivable in the event that the
plan cannot pay the promised benefits, and there may be good grounds (even if there is currently an
apparent deficit on an accounting basis) to believe that this is not probable. Applying the requirements of
the current IAS 37 ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ to this analysis would suggest
that no asset should be 1'ecog.;1r1ised.5 Some would consider that this is the most practicable approach and,
given adequate disclosure of the position in the notes to the financial statements, would provide suitable

information as to the extent of the employer’s covenant.

7.4 Another possible approach would be to require the current value of the employer’s covenant to be
estimated. This would be a measure that attempted to quantify the amount and timing of future cash
flows likely to arise under the covenant, probably using an expected value calculated under a number of
scenarios. This would clearly be a burdensome and highly subjective calculation to perform. It is also
open to the objection, in principle, that it would seem that it would inevitably take account of future
investment returns. The point is similar to the quantification of the employer’s liability by reference to
expected cash flow, which was rejected in Chapter 7.

7.5 A simpler approach would be to require that where (and to the extent that) an employer has
undertaken to make payments to a plan to enable it to pay future benefits, then the plan should recognise
an asset, based on the difference between the amount of its liability and the value of its assets available to
pay those benefits. This would, of course, need to be presented clearly and separately from the plan’s

investments.

7.6 Chapter 7 concluded that, where an employer’s obligations were represented by a net obligation,
being the difference between the settlement amount of the liabilities and the market value of the assets,
then it should report a net position based on the difference between those amounts. Where and to the
extent that an employer recognises a liability in respect of this, it would seem entirely appropriate, in

principle, for the plan to report a corresponding asset. Because the calculation of this asset is essentially

Similarly, a plan may report a liability in respect of a surplus, where it has little or no discretion to
avoid making a refund to the employer or to accept a reduction in future contributions so that they
would not be commensurate with the benefits arising.

The Exposure Draft of proposed amendments to IAS 37 proposes that contingent assets should no
longer be dealt with by that standard. The Basis for Conclusions in the Exposure Draft noted that some
categories of items previously treated as contingent assets might in future fall within the scope of

IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’. However, it seems that, as the employer’s undertaking would be a financial
asset from the perspective of the plan, it would be accounted for under IAS 39.
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the same as that done for accounting by the employer (subject to the possibility of different assumptions
being used, as referred to in paragraph 6.19 above), this proposal would seem relatively easy to

implement and should not give rise to significant additional costs.

7.7 It was concluded above (in Chapter 5) that it was inappropriate for an employer’s liability for
pensions to be reduced to reflect the employer’s own credit risk. From the perspective of the plan,
however, it would seem wrong in principle to report an asset without having regard to the credit risk to
which it is subject. This is a general point that applies to all financial assets. If this were implemented
literally, it would seem that rather than a plan’s statement of financial position totalling to zero, the net
total would reflect the amount by which the asset in respect of the employer’s covenant has been reduced
to take account of credit risk. In the usual case where the employer is expected to remain solvent this
would seem to add little information: identification of the employer and discussion of the covenant would
provide superior information to a somewhat arbitrary deduction from the value of the asset reported in
respect of that covenant. However, where the employer’s financial position is so precarious, that there is
a significant risk that it will be unable to fulfil his obligation, an assessment of the recoverable amount of

the asset should be made, and the asset written down to that amount.

7.8 Obviously further disclosures about the employer’s covenant are necessary: these are discussed

below.
7.9 It is proposed that:

Where an employer undertakes to make payments to a plan to enable it to pay future benefits, then the
plan should recognise an asset, reflecting its claim of the employer, based on the difference between
its liability in respect of future benefits and the market value of assets available to pay those benefits.

The amount reported as an asset should reflect the employer’s credit risk.

8 Other matters

8.1 So far we have discussed some of the main items that should be reflected in a pension plan’s
financial reports—assets to pay benefits (Section 5), liabilities to pay future benefits (Section 6) and the
employer’s covenant (Section 7). This section looks at some of the other matters that a standard for the

financial reports of pension plans would need to address.

A complete set of financial statements

8.2 IAS 1 requires that certain financial statements are presented, and these requirements would seem
to be equally applicable to pension plans. These statements include:

(a) a statement of financial position as at the end of the period;

(b) a statement of comprehensive income for the period;
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() a statement of changes in equity in the period;

(d) a statement of cash flows for the period; and

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

These requirements seem equally applicable to pension plans, except that there seems little role for a

statement of changes in equity.

8.3 Chapter 9 of this Discussion Paper reviews the disclosure requirements that are desirable for an
employer. These would be equally applicable to the pension plan itself, and should be incorporated in the
standard for pension plans. Importantly this would include information on alternative measures of the
liability, disclosures about risk and details of the composition of board of trustees and their relationship

with the employer.

8.4 Obvious additions to these requirements include details of contributions receivable in respect of
the period and benefits paid. The financial statements should also record the effect of transfers into and

out of membership. Other disclosures are identified in IAS 26 and are uncontroversial.

Investment strategy

8.5 A pension plan’s investment strategy and the outcome of that strategy is clearly fundamental to
members. Extensions to the requirements proposed in Chapter 9 might be considered appropriate for the

financial reports of pension plans.

8.6 The investment strategy should be discussed, describing its objectives and its impact on risk and
liquidity. In particular, a breakdown of the strategic asset allocation should be given, with the actual
allocation, target allocation and acceptable ranges, making clear both the current and future target

allocations with explanations for any notable divergence from the stated policy.

8.7 Where a plan employs investment managers, it would be informative to the member if the
financial reports provide a summary of the investment managers used, their investment styles and
mandates. This disclosure should include details of the selection and remuneration of managers,

including the extent to which remuneration is linked to performance.

8.8 There is also a case for a report on investment performance which would assess the extent to
which the investment strategy has been fulfilled, comparing the results to those of previous periods and
benchmarks. It would seem appropriate for the trustees themselves to select the benchmarks, rather than

for a standard to specify which benchmarks should be used.
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Employer’s covenant

8.9 In many cases a plan’s investment strategy will be influenced by the employer’s covenant: all
things being equal, the stronger the employer’s covenant, the more the trustees may consider a higher risk
investment strategy appropriate. Given the importance of the employer’s covenant, it would be useful to
require a discussion of the strength of the covenant and how the trustees monitor and manage the
covenant. This discussion should include information about the possible effect on the plan of major

changes to the employer, for example the position in the event that the employer is taken over.

Related party transactions

8.10  The financial report of a pension plan would be incomplete if it failed to disclose all related party
transactions and, in particular, transactions with the employer. Although investment in the employer is
already commonly given (and is required by IAS 26) other arrangements may also require disclosure (as

well as being reflected where appropriate in the financial statements). Such transactions would include,

for example, arrangements where assets such as operational properties have been sold to the plan and

leased back to the employer.
8.11  The proposals discussed above may be summarised as follows:

The standard for financial reports of pension plans should require a minimum content for the

financial statements of plans.

The required disclosures should be built on those identified in Chapter 9 for the employer and those
currently required by IAS 26.

Further consideration should be given to disclosures (either in the Management Commentary or in the

financial statements) in respect of investment strategy; the employer’s covenant; and related party

transactions.
9 Summary of proposals
9.1 The proposals made in this Chapter may be summarised as follows:

A standard for pension plans

9.2 IASB should consider withdrawing IAS 26 “Accounting and reporting by retirement benefit plans’.
Requirements for the general purpose financial reports of pension plans should be consistent with IFRS.
(Section 3)
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The objective of financial reports of pension plans

9.3 The objective of the financial reports of a pension plan is to provide information about the
financial position, performance and changes in financial position of a pension plan that is useful to
members and those who act in their interests, in making economic decisions and assessing the

stewardship of the trustees. (Section 4)

Assets available to pay benefits

9.4 Assets available to pay benefits should be stated at current value, which is market value where the

asset is traded on a market. (Section 5)

Liabilities to pay benefit)

9.5 The standard should require a pension plan’s financial statements to include the liability to pay

future pensions. (Paragraphs 6.4-6.9)

9.6 The components of a plan’s liability should be the same as those identified in Chapter 3
(Paragraphs 6.10-6.13).

9.7 A plan’s liability in respect of future pensions should be measured according to the principles
identified in Chapter 5. (Paragraphs 6.14-6.19)

The employer’s covenant

9.8 Where an employer undertakes to make payments to a plan to enable it to pay future benefits,
then the plan should recognise an asset, reflecting its claim on the employer, based on the difference
between its liability in respect of future benefits and the current value of assets available to pay those
benefits. Where necessary, the amount reported as an asset should be reduced to its recoverable amount.
(Section 7)

Other matters

9.9 The standard for financial reports of pension plans should require a minimum content for the
financial statements of plans. The required disclosures should be built on those identified in Chapter 9 for

the employer and those currently required by IAS 26.
9.10  Further consideration should be given to disclosures (either in the Management Commentary or

in the financial statements) in respect of investment strategy; the employer’s covenant; and related party

transactions. (Section 8)
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